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HDFC International Life & Re Company Limited ("HDFC 
International Life & Re") is the first life and health (re)insurer to be 
incorporated in the Dubai International Financial Centre (”DIFC”) 
and is regulated by the Dubai Financial Services Authority 
(“DFSA”). Our business consists of both, treaty and facultative 
reinsurance  arrangements of ceding insurers, across classes of 
life and health insurance under the Group Insurance and 
Individual Insurance business segments.

At HDFC International Life & Re, our aim is to provide ceding 
partners with solution-centric, progressive and value added 
services. Headquartered in the DIFC, we are today offering 
reinsurance capacity in the GCC, the greater MENA region and 
India and are well on our way towards expanding across markets 
of strategic importance. This rapid yet steady growth, since 
inception in 2016, is testimony to our conviction and credibility as 
a life and health reinsurance Company. The Company continues to 
build an agile and efficient organisation by further strengthening 
the risk management and actuarial disciplines, application of 
prudent and predictable  underwriting approaches and 
augmenting the data and tech capabilities.

HDFC International Life & Re, has been assigned long-term 
insurer public financial strength rating of “BBB” for now five (5) 
consecutive years.

This year, the Company has established HDFC International 
Life & Re, IFSC Branch, its first overseas branch located at 
Gujarat International Finance Tec (GIFT City) - IFSC, India to 
provide US Dollar denominated insurance solutions to Indians 
globally. During the year, HDFC International Life & Re, IFSC 

About HDFC International Life & Re Company Limited

Branch received its Certificate of Registration from the 
International Financial Services Centres Authority (‘’IFSCA’’) and 
Certificate for Establishment of Place of Business in India from 
Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India.

HDFC International Life & Re has also been awarded the 
’Emerging Company of the Year’ by ET Ascent. The award 
recognises the Company’s contribution and achievements in a 
short-span since inception.

Parentage

HDFC Life Insurance Company Limited (“HDFC Life”) is a joint 
venture between HDFC Ltd., India’s leading housing finance 
institution and abrdn (Mauritius Holdings) 2006 Limited, a global 
investment Company.

Established in 2000, HDFC Life is a leading, listed, long-term life 
insurance solutions provider in India, offering a range of 
individual and group insurance solutions that meet various 
customer needs such as Protection, Pension, Savings, 
Investment, Annuity and Health. 

HDFC Life has more than 60 products (including individual and 
group products) and optional riders in its portfolio, catering to a 
diverse range of customer needs. HDFC Life continues to benefit 
from its increased presence across the country, having a wide 
reach with branches and additional distribution touch-points 
through several new tie-ups and partnerships. The count of 
distribution partnerships is over 300, comprising banks, NBFCs, 
MFIs, SFBs, brokers, new ecosystem partners amongst others. 
The Company has a strong base of financial consultants.
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Our Values Our Vision

“Securing aspirations, through customer 
focused, technology driven and globally 
trusted life (re)insurance solutions.”

Excellence

Excel in every action, with an aspiration to be the best in the 
industry

People Engagement

Respect your colleagues and contribute towards an engaged 
work environment

Integrity

To conduct oneself in a manner that is consistent with the parent 
Company’s code of conduct and demonstrate accountability in all 
professional actions

Customer Centricity

Keep customers interest at the centre and deliver on commitments

Collaboration

Proactively align actions towards achieving organizational goals 



Dear Shareholders,

I look back at the year gone by with a sense of pride at what 
we have achieved and with a sense of resoluteness for the 
coming future. We are committed to continuing to strive 
towards excellence in providing superior reinsurance 
solutions for our partners.

HDFC International, a wholly owned subsidiary of HDFC Life 
has been serving clients from and within the Dubai Interna-
tional Financial Centre (DIFC) since 2016 and is regulated by 
the Dubai Financial Services Authority (DFSA).

Over the years, the Company, backed by the proven credibility 
of the HDFC brand, has been equipped with smart technical 
risk pricing that reflect expert actuarial and underwriting 
capabilities, proficient claims management for timely settle-
ments, risk management expertise, and complete and holistic 
risk solutions for end-to-end reinsurance. 

Our people have shown resilience and agility in tough 
headwinds and have been able to overcome the macro 
challenges and their often-unpredictable associated risks.  We 
are optimistic about our financial outlook despite the global 
geo-political unrest and other such challenges.  Encouraging-
ly, rising oil and gas prices too imply favourable growth 
prospects in the economy of the region and serve as a silver 
lining.

UAE is a country where cultures meet and HDFC International 
is a true reflection of this multicultural ethos. We have an 
experienced multi-lingual team. We are indeed proud that our 
Company is well represented by a mix of different nationali-
ties and faiths accentuating our focus on Diversity, Equity 
and Inclusion (DEI).

Our operating model has been to spread risks across a diversi-
fied portfolio, whilst keeping the focus on strengthening 
each line of business prudently. In FY2024, the Company will 
be focused on further improving the client experience while 
continuing to broad-base business.   

At HDFC International, we are constantly formulating the 
best-in-class reinsurance offerings for our partners. We have 
also been successful in further strengthening our presence in 

all the geographies we currently serve. This year we 
strengthened our existing partnerships and also added 
significant collaborations with new client partners.

Operationally, we have come a long way. Today, we are not 
only proud of our up-to-date, systemized backend services 
for our implementation, but we also provide technologically 
advanced value-added support services that ease the admin-
istrative and operational functions of our client partners. 

I am pleased to report that this year, our Company estab-
lished HDFC International Life & Re, IFSC Branch in the 
Gujarat Internaional Finance Tec-City (GIFT City), in Gujarat, 
India. 

Through the IFSC Branch, HDFC International is slated to offer 
US Dollar denominated life and health insurance solutions, 
this will not just add immense value but also complement its 
parent, HDFC Life’s INR-based life insurance offerings.

We continue to build and maintain effective relationships 
with all concerned government and regulatory authorities, 
including both, the Dubai Financial Services Authority (DFSA) 
in DIFC and International Financial Services Centres Authority 
(IFSCA) in GIFT City. We thank both the authorities for having 
supported us through this time.

Our risk management has been acknowledged by reputed 
professional agencies and audit firms alike, including S&P 
Global Ratings, to have a well-embedded risk management 
culture across all functions and to have established risk 
controls in almost all areas of risk. 

We also continue to be recognized by our global industry 
peers. Earlier this year, we were recognized as the ‘Emerging 
Company of the Year’ by ET Ascent in Mumbai, India. I  
congratulate and thank the entire team for the hard work 
that resulted in this accolade.

I look forward to achieving greater accomplishments in the 
coming future and am confident that we have the best in place 
for another successful year.

Vibha Padalkar

Chairperson

Chairperson’s Message
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Our people have shown resilience and 

agility in tough headwinds and have 

been able to overcome the macro 

challenges and their 

often-unpredictable associated risks.



Board of Directors
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Ms. Vibha Padalkar is the Chairperson of HDFC International Life & Re. She is also the 
Managing Director & CEO of HDFC Life. Under her stewardship, HDFC Life doubled its 
performance on all key metrics over the past four years, ending with an AUM of Rs 2.4 Tn as 
on March 31, 2023. In FY23, she also spearheaded the first M&A in the Indian life insurance 
industry. Prior to assuming charge as the MD & CEO in 2018, Ms. Padalkar was the ED & CFO 
and instrumental in the successful listing of HDFC Life in 2017. She is also a member of the 
Executive Committee (EC) of the Life Insurance Council. 

Ms. Padalkar qualified as a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England 
and Wales in 1992 and is also a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
Over the years Ms. Padalkar has been the recipient of various awards which includes the 
'CA Business Leader - For Large Corporates - BFSI' at the 15th ICAI Awards by The Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India. She has also been felicitated with awards by ET Prime 
Women Leadership Awards and IMA India. Business Today has recognised Ms. Padalkar as 
one of the ‘Top 30 Most Powerful Women in Business’ for five consecutive years, from 2018 
to 2022. In 2021, Ms. Padalkar has been recognised as one of the 'Most Powerful Women in 
Business' by Fortune International magazine. Fortune India has featured Ms. Padalkar in 
their list of 'Most Powerful Women' for 2021 and 2022.

She also has been featured in the ‘Most Valuable CEOs’ list by Business World for 2022 & 
2023 and in their list of 'Most Influential Women in Business' for 2022.

Vibha Padalkar
Non-Executive Director 
(Chairperson of the Board)

Yuvraj Narayan

Independent Director

Yuvraj Narayan is the Group Deputy CEO & CFO and Board Member of DP World, a global 
transport and logistics  Company  with  over  290  business  units,  employing  97,657  
people  across  78  countries.   Mr Narayan  joined  DP  World  in  2005.  In  the  18  years  
since  then,  he  has  played  a  significant  role  in transforming  the  business from a  local  
port  operator  to a  global  end‐to‐end  supply  chain  solutions provider. It now manages 
around 10% of the world’s trade.  Mr Narayan has been named Middle East and North 
Africa CFO of the Year on four occasions in 2008, 2015, 2016 and 2018, while his team 
has won multiple  awards  including  Finance  Team  of  the  Year  in  2015.   A  qualified  
Chartered  Accountant,  Mr Narayan  also  sits  on  the  Board  of  HDFC  International  Life  
and  Re  Company  Limited,  TT  Club,  Dubai Financial Markets (DFM) and Chairs the Audit 
Committee of the International Cricket Club (ICC). 

Yuvraj Narayan

Independent Director



Suresh Badami

Non- Executive Director

Mr. Suresh Badami has been associated with HDFC Life since October 2013. Prior to 
joining HDFC Life, he was associated with Dunlop India Limited, ICI India Limited, Cogensis 
Networks Private Limited, Max Ateev Limited and ICICI Bank Limited. Suresh has 29 
years of experience in sales & business across varied industries, including 20+ years in 
banking & financial services. 

He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Science from Bangalore University and a Post Graduate 
Diploma in Management from Xavier Institute of Management, Bhubaneswar.
Mr. Badami has been appointed to the Board of Directors of HDFC International Life & Re 
since July 13, 2017.

Mr. Davinder Rajpal is an independent insurance and reinsurance professional who 
began his professional career in 1961. Prior to retirement in 2006, he was Member of 
the Executive Team in Swiss Re – Asia HQ, Hong Kong (2002 – 2006), a body responsible 
for the strategic development and overall management decision making for all Asia 
Pacific Property & Casualty operations. He was also Head of Turkey, Middle East and 
South Asia markets for Property & Casualty business in Swiss Re (2000 – 2002). Prior to 
the above, he was General Manager for AXA China Region, Hong Kong (1992 – 2000). 
During this period, he was responsible for defining regional strategies and provided 
overall management of the Company’s general insurance operations. He has also served 
as General Manager for CIGNA and his territorial responsibilities in CIGNA included Hong 
Kong, Taiwan and Macau (1985 – 1992).

Mr. Rajpal was also on the Board of Directors of IDBI Federal Life Insurance Co. Ltd., Mumbai 
and also was an Independent Non-Executive Director on the Board of Pine Bridge Invest-
ment Trustee Company India Ltd. Mr. Rajpal has been on the Board of Directors of HDFC 
International Life & Re since its inception.

Davinder Rajpal

Independent Director
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From the Desk of the CEO

Dear Shareholder,

FY’ 22-23 has been a year of strong growth for HDFC International Life & 
Re. Despite market challenges and a difficult global economic outlook, our 
Company has held steady and seen a healthy upswing in its books. 

Undeferred by geo-political pressures and macro-economic headwinds 
that continued to dominate the landscape, we remained resilient, as 
reflected in our growth numbers that took us back to pre-COVID19 levels. 
This was largely possible on account of execution with ingenuity, 
consistency and discipline. 

Today, at an enterprise level, we are better prepared and carry the ability 
to absorb shocks, adapt and quickly pivot to changing conditions in a 
post-COVID19 world. Our risk management practice is woven into the 
strategic planning process and carries foresight capabilities that study 
varied data-sets, develop scenarios to pressure test strategies and 
anticipate/ prepares for emerging risks. This year too, the Company 
continued to do well on several key risk indicators, including the 
management of solvency capital requirements, broad-basing of markets 
and clients, diversification of investment portfolio and generating 
positive cash flows, among others.

Our gross written premium (GWP) witnessed a 7-year CAGR growth of 
90% generating a GWP in excess of USD 17 million during the financial 
year 2023. Our regulatory (DFSA) solvency margin for the year ended 
March 31, 2023 is at 223% reflective of a strong, stable and sustainable 
capital position, with healthy balance sheet strength.

The Company followed an approach of pursuing a balanced mix across 
business lines and geographies. We believed in calibrated growth in 
businesses across identified segments that remained in line with our risk 
and technical thresholds. Further, we continue on our stated philosophy 
of partnering and collaborating with clients and partners to provide best in 
class solutions that help in achieving improved business outcomes.

Today, a dedicated claims vertical caters to multiple types of claims from 
various lines of businesses. Given the sensitivity associated with claims 
processing and settlement, there is a very strong focus on controls and 

due diligence on every single claim processed. An automated claims 
module with in-built validations, auto- authorization limits etc. further 
enhances and optimizes the overall claims experience. Likewise, our team 
of highly experienced underwriters ensures that all businesses are 
underwritten with a conscious approach to provide prudent underwriting 
decisions based on sound underwriting principles and guidelines. Internal 
benchmarking is defined and reviewed periodically with a view to offer the 
industry with leading services and solutions.

Our endeavour to provide our cedents with simplified yet advanced 
technology gained further impetus with the roll out of an array of 
reinsurance Value-Added Services (VAS), ranging from customized 
microsite support, multi featured insta-tools that facilitate swift 
customer decisions, digitized reinsurance administration systems 
including advanced underwriting engine modules and instant reinsurance 
decision platforms. This VAS model has helped to further fortify our 
association with our cedents and provides an opportunity to strengthen 
lines of business without the worries and trappings of system overheads. 
Also, as a risk-carrier, introduction of this strategic model allowed us to 
hedge our risk portfolio depending on the geographies we operate in.

The year marked yet another milestone for HDFC International Life & Re. 
The Company established HDFC International Life & Re, IFSC Branch, its 
first overseas branch office at the Gujarat International Financial Tec-City 
(GIFT city) in Gujarat, India. With this, we foray into the retail life and 
medical insurance segment to provide USD based insurance solutions to 
resident and non-resident Indians across the globe. The Company is now 
in the process of introducing meticulously crafted insurance plans for 
global Indians.

I am proud to announce that as in the past, this year too we were 
recognized for our achievements by the global insurance industry. HDFC 
International Life & Re was awarded the Emerging Company of the year by 
ET Ascent in Mumbai, India. Awards of this calibre serve as catalysts to 
work towards achieving greater heights in the times to come. We eagerly 
look forward to another year of toil, sweat and accomplishments.

Sameer Yogishwar 

In 1998, Mr. Sameer Yogishwar started his professional career with India’s largest 
mortgage finance Company, HDFC (Housing Development Finance Corporation) Limited, 
one of the Founder Shareholders of HDFC Life, as a Management Trainee. Post a two-year 
stint with HDFC Limited, he was deputed as part of the founding team for HDFC Life. In his 
16-year journey with HDFC Life, Mr. Yogishwar was involved across multiple functions 
including process, operations, learning & development, agency sales, bancassurance, 
strategic alliances and international business. He essayed multiple senior leadership 
roles, having headed zonal business functions in large geographies of the country, apart 
from spending a significant part of his career in building up and managing the 
organization’s branch operations network in India.

Mr. Yogishwar became the first CEO of HDFC International Life & Re in January 2016. He was 
instrumental in obtaining the license and incorporating the Company in the DIFC.
Mr. Yogishwar also served on the Board of Directors of DIFC Insurance Association NPIO 
(June 2017 – June 2019). 

Mr. Yogishwar holds a Bachelor's degree in Economics and a Masters in Management 
Studies (Finance), both from Mumbai University.
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Sameer Yogishwar

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
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Profitable growth mindset of
constantly innovating

Building a
2P x 2S franchise

Aspire to be viewed as a 
reinsurer that cedents and 
strategic partners credit with 
problem solving expertise 
and carry endurance to offer 
risk solutions that hold 
particularly promising poten-
tial for the future

Building an economic moat by 
remaining focused on innova-
tion led disruption, creating 
profitable risk pools and 
generating optimum RAROC 
(risk-adjusted return on 
capital)

Creating a
bulwark for future growth

Agile thinking
Guiding star

Consolidate Philosophy
Fail fast and pivot

Execution discipline
Revisit-Refine-Reimagine

Speaking the language of our 
client(s) and working in short  
cycles to deliver the strategic
and operational asks offering 
innovative solutions to client(s) 
across the spectrum of life and 
health insurance value chain

Developing an obsession of 
anticipating client(s) problems 
early, delivering innovative risk 
solutions and helping client(s) 
meet their end policyholder(s) 
latent demand thereby  narrow-
ing the protection and savings 
gap

Leverage legacy,  echnology 
and data to understand risks  
better, improve  underwriting, 
technical pricing & efficiency - 
ultimately converging conven-
tional reinsurance market to 
virtual and real time market-
place

Identify challenges along the 
life and health insurance 
value chain that technology 
could solve and co-work with 
client(s) to exploit new 
developments  redominantly 
monetize on intellectual and 
digital capital

The Ace Trilogy
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The Company leverages on the ERM and risk controls frame-
work that is developed to manage the uncertainties in 
achieving its strategic objectives. The Company has also put 
in place key policies that sets up clear channels of communi-
cation regarding risk management strategy, objectives and 
plans. ERM function enables the Company in taking timely 
decisions both strategic and operational in a measured 
manner, carefully considering lag-lead inputs and early 
warning indicators and addressing emerging risks.

Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Framework

The Company has a robust ERM framework, comprising 
of various risk management mechanisms which help to 
ensure the risk profile is dynamically optimized, whilst 
operating within the acceptable risk appetite

Our Company’s risk management system and practices 
are agile and responsive to new emerging risks and is 
able to address effectively with changes in internal and 
external operating environment

Risk Management has close alignment to business and 
operations and plays an integral role in strategy and 
planning discussions, where risk appetite facilitates 
discussions and sets boundaries to risk taking

The ERM framework operates with the following objectives

Ensuring protection of the interests of our ceding 
insurers, retrocessionaires, shareholder(s), employees, 
and all the relevant stakeholder(s), including adher-
ence to internal values framework

Ensuring adherence to applicable DFSA rules and DIFC 
regulations and relevant federal directives by the 
statutory authorities, thereby maintaining an ethical 
and strong corporate governance culture

Ensuring the risk assessment (identification, analysis, 
and evaluation) and risk treatment process is effective 
with the core objective of minimising risk and 
maximising opportunities for the Company 

Assuring in providing a systematic, structured, and 
dynamic mechanism to take smarter yet informed 
decisions whilst managing risk and uncertainty 
pragmatically including internal controls

Assuring ERM is tailor-made and not one-size-fits-all, 
considering human and cultural factors in building lean 
processes and promoting strong risk and internal 
controls culture in the Company

Enterprise Risk Management
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ERM embedded across business units and decision-making process

01 Risk culture

Appropriate 
measurement and 
required interventions to 
foster strong risk culture.

04 Risk strategy

How much and which risks
to take in pursuit of
Company objectives,
cascaded down to
business units and aligned
with strategy.

05 Risk insights

From a feed-back view by
risk type to a feed-in
(forward looking) view
integrated across existing
and emerging risk areas.

02 Risk governance

Effective board and RMC
oversight by setting tone
at the top, greater
involvement of business 
units.

03 Risk decisions

Business decisions entail
prudent balance
between risk and reward
(upside potential) to
optimize risk-adjusted
returns.
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The ERM strategy is commensurate to the Company’s 

strategy:

The Company recognizes ERM as an integral building 
block to manage risks and maximize opportunities related 
to achievement of strategic objectives

The Company’s risk taking is steered by the Risk Appetite 
Framework, which consists of two (2) interlinked 
components: risk appetite and risk tolerance/limits. The 
quantitative and qualitative risk appetite boundaries 
facilitate risk and capital led decision making and risk 
tolerance/limits sets boundaries for measured risk taking

The Company continuously reviews and updates its 
internal frameworks, models and parameters to reflect 
the experiences and changes in internal and external risk 
environment and current best practices

The Company’s ERM system is agile and responsive to 
emerging risks and is able to effectively address changes 
in internal and external operating environment

The Company has a defined comprehensive governance 
structure for risk management, designed to identify, 
analyze, mitigate and manage all material and emerging risks 
through a multi-line defense model providing for an effective 
balance of internal controls, oversight and assurance. It 
includes the leadership, accountabilities and oversight that 
builds and improves the ERM framework in the Company. 

Reinsurance Risks Financial Risks Operational Risks Catastrophic Risks

The Company has identified five (5) risk categories which are further broad-based into specific risk types and sub-risk types basis their 
nature, scale, size, complexity, materiality and linkages to the Company’s objectives:

The Company leverages on the ERM and controls 
framework that is developed to manage the uncertainties 
in achieving its strategic objectives

The Company has also put in place key policies that sets 
up clear channels of communication regarding ERM 
strategy, objectives and plans

ERM Policy (“Policy”), provides a base for the overall risk 
management framework of the Company. The Policy is 
reviewed by the Risk Management Committee (RMC) and 
approved by the Board of Directors on an annual basis

ERM strategy provides appropriate measures to achieve a 
prudent balance between risk and reward and follows the risk 
taxonomy:  
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ERM governance structure is an essential part of the Compa-
ny’s corporate governance responsibilities. Effective ERM 
governance structure will help the Company improve its 
performance and achieve the desired outcomes and stated 
objectives, basis the five (5) core principles alongside identi-
fied relevance:

Enterprise Risk Management
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Performance Management

The Risk Management Committee (RMC) reviews the 
effectiveness of the ERM function on an on-going basis 
ensuring that the function has the necessary expertise, 
frameworks and infrastructure to support measured risk 
taking. Additionally, the function undergoes through an 
independent assurance process by the appointed Internal 
Auditor. Furthermore, S&P Global Ratings as part of their 
annual surveillance process take up a comprehensive 
assessment on the state of ERM evolution and maturity 
levels against global benchmarks. The array of metrics used 
to evaluate the risk management function are on the 
foundation of correctness and accuracy of facts presented, 
comprehensiveness in quality of risk assessments and check 
on integration of risk management into strategic 
decision-making process.

Highlights of FY 2023

During the year, our ERM practice and processes were 
instrumental in keeping the Company focused on the most 
important strategic imperatives towards all our 
stakeholders. As at the date of this report, the Company 
implemented the following measures for effective risk 
assessments (identification, analysis, and evaluation) and 
risk treatment to manage material and emerging risks:

The Company operated and managed within the Board of 
Directors approved risk appetite. The Company’s risk 
appetite comprising of qualitative and quantitative risk 
appetite, risk tolerance and risk capacity, has been 
integrated with strategy and decision-making process.

The Company improved its risk management capability, 
through effective implementation of ERM and internal 
controls framework validated by independent assurance 
bodies such as Internal Auditors and Rating Agencies.

Solvency (Regulatory and Rating Agency) models were 
regularly analysed and specific management measures 
were employed ensuring maintenance of optimum level of 
capital adequacy levels before foraying into specific 
business activities or/and entering a new market.

The Company continued to maintain its Financial Strength 
Ratings (FSR). The Company received ratings from S&P 
Global Ratings and applied Insurance Industry Country 
Risk Assessment (IICRA) rating rationale, capital model 
outcome and methodology in its decision-making process 
to prevent and mitigate crystallization of significant 
potential risks.

Developed high frequency stress tests using 
multi-scenario approach to demystify vulnerabilities 
linked to profit and loss, balance sheet, cash flows, 
including review of investment strategy based on 
economic scenarios and risk appetite. The application of 
this approach provided better control and predictability 
of business.

The Company regularly assesses all potential and 
emerging risk(s) through a combination of qualitative and 
quantitative analytics to analyse state of business, risk 
profile and internal controls environment. During the 
year, the Company focused on new emerging risks 
including strengthening of cybersecurity and data 
protection framework.

The Company undertook monitoring of key developments 
in the regulatory and geo-political environment including 
the potential impact with the introduction of the new 
accounting regime IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (may lead 
to material changes in financial reporting and business 
strategies and consequently rise in operational costs) and 
continued to observe other key industry specific events 
among others.

Principles Relevance

It reflects the intent to ensure effective ERM
Mandate: 

Design: 

Implementation: 

Monitor & Review: 

Continual Improvement: 

It reflects what is key to effectiveness of framework

It reflects what actions are required to make it real

It reflects the approach to assess performance

It reflects the continual improvement process

Endorsement of the ERM Policy
Ensuring a positive attitude towards ERM
Reviewing regularly the effectiveness of ERM

Designing of framework considering internal and external factors
Accountability and responsibility for managing risk and internal controls
Integration into strategic planning and decision-making process

Developing a ERM Strategy to support integration across functions
Identifying the requirements for building ERM capability 
Reviewing implementation progress and reporting outcomes

Assessing the ERM framework at least annually
Monitoring progress against the ERM Strategy
Implementing changes considering internal and external factors

Risk attestation is supported to ensure internal controls are fit & proper 
Developing a ERM improvement plan to assess effectiveness 
Determining improvement through risk assurance reports
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TO

THE MEMBER OF HDFC International Life & Re COMPANY LIMITED

The Board of Directors are pleased to present the 7th Annual 
Report on the business and performance of HDFC Interna-
tional Life & Re Company Limited (the “Company”), together 
with the Audited Financial Statements for the Financial Year 
ended March 31, 2023.

Financial Performance

The Financial performance for the FY 2022-23 is summa-
rized as under:

Share Capital

The authorized share capital of the Company is USD 
30,000,000. There was no change in the Company’s paid-up 
capital during the year. The registered paid-up capital of the 
Company as on March 31, 2023 is twenty-nine million five 
hundred thousand US Dollars (USD 29,500,000) represented 
by twenty-nine million five hundred thousand (29,500,000) 
Ordinary shares, with nominal value of USD 1.00 each. The 
entire paid-up capital of the Company is held by HDFC Life 
Insurance Company Limited.

Business Review and Outlook

HDFC International Life & Re has successfully completed 
seven (7) financial years of operations and is steadily build-
ing experience in the GCC and MENA Life Reinsurance 
markets

During FY 2022-23, HDFC International Life & Re generated 
Gross Written Premiums (GWP) of USD 17.22 million, regis-
tering a 10 % y-o-y growth, while General and administra-
tions expenses stood at USD 1.5 million. For the period under 
review, HDFC International Life & Re reported a Net Profit of 
USD 0.41 Mn.

The Company has been working with insurers to provide 
reinsurance support for individual life and group life 
businesses, on both, treaty and facultative basis. Working 
closely with clients is the central focus of the strategy and 
we look to establish meaningful and long-term 'win-win' 
business associations. The Company has been working with 
insurers to provide reinsurance support for individual life 
and group life businesses, on both, treaty and facultative 
basis.

As we get into the eighth year of operation, our aim is to contin-
ue on the path of building compelling reinsurance propositions 
which enable clients to break into new segments, expand their 
market share and offer unique customer benefits. We continue 

to build technology enabled models which allow for differen-
tiation from existing processes and propositions and deliver 
capital efficiencies by means of bespoke reinsurance and risk 
solutions. Our aim is to thus help our partners realize their 
potential through solutions that are innovative and 
optimized as per needs of their market segments.

‘Partnering’, rather than pure risk participation is the mantra 
for our approach in the GCC & MENA regions. We are optimistic
about opportunities that lie ahead and excited about the 
journey that we have embarked upon.

HDFC International Life & Re continued to maintain its 
long-term insurer public financial strength rating of ‘BBB’, 
for fifth consecutive year. During FY 2022-23, S&P Global 
Ratings affirmed ‘BBB’ ratings while revising the outlook to 
‘Negative’.

Key Regulatory Framework

The independent legislative framework of both, the DIFC 
and the DFSA, are based on international standards and 
principles of common law. Both, the DIFC and the DFSA, have 
administered and enacted various laws and rules which the 
Company is bound by. Apart from these, the Company is 
subject to relevant Federal Laws as well. The key laws, rules 
and regulations issued by the DIFC, the DFSA and Federal 
Authorities, as applicable to the Company during the year 
under review, including amendments, are:

i. The DIFC Laws

Companies Law & Regulations – Set out provisions in 
respect of formation and incorporation of companies, 
classification of companies, shares, capital, directors 
and their duties, auditors and their duties, meetings, 
accounts, winding up etc. Companies are classified as 
Public Companies and Private Companies. Reporting 
requirements depend on the classification of companies. 
The Legal Status of the Company is “Private Company”.

Contract Law – Sets out the provisions governing 
contracts such as formation of contracts, validity of 
contracts, interpretation of contracts, performance and 
non-performance of contracts, damages in case of 
breach and agency contracts.

Data Protection Law & Regulations – The Data Protec-
tion Law has undergone changes during the year and a new 
law was introduced repealing and replacing the previous 
law. The new Data Protection Law came into force on July 1, 
2020. The new law provides standards and controls for the 
Processing and free movement of Personal Data by a 
Controller or Processor; and protects the fundamental 
rights of Data Subjects, including how such rights apply to 
the protection of Personal Data in emerging technologies. 
The law also prescribes rules and regulations regarding the 
collection, handling, disclosure and use of personal data in 
the DIFC, and offers protection to the rights of individuals 
on their personal data. The new law embodies international 

FY 2021-22

 (USD)

FY 2022-23

(USD)
Particulars

FY 2020-21 

(USD)

Gross Income

Total expenses

Profit/(Loss)

18,147,276

17,736,880

410,396

16,437,837

(20,415,929)

(3,978,092)

14,151,047

(14,110,627)

40,420
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best practice standards and is consistent with EU Regula-
tions and OECD guidelines. The law is designed to balance 
legitimate needs of businesses and organizations to 
process personal information while upholding an individ-
ual right to privacy.

As prescribed by the law, the Company has formulated 
Data Protection Policies and Framework, including the 
Data Protection Privacy Policy Notice explaining data 
processing practices about how the Company collects, 
processes, and shares personal data.

Arbitration Law – Sets out provisions governing an 
arbitration agreement, arbitration proceedings and 
arbitral awards; regarding the composition of the Arbitral 
Tribunal.

Employment Law – Provides minimum employment 
standards to employees based within, or who ordinarily 
work within or from the DIFC; promotes the fair treat-
ment of employees and employers; fosters employment 
practices that will contribute to the prosperity of the 
DIFC.

DIFC Employee Workplace Savings Plan (“DEWS Plan”) 
replaced the previously existing system of End of Service 
Benefit payment regime with a funded defined contribu-
tion regime where the employer needs to make monthly 
contributions to DEWS for the benefit of employees 
effective from February 01, 2020. Enrolment with a 
qualifying plan is a mandatory requirement and all 
employers in the DIFC were required to enrol with the 
DEWS Plan prior to the plan commencement date. The 
Company had enrolled with the DEWS Plan in April 2020 
and continues to maintain the same for its employees 
who are on its payroll.

ii. The DFSA Rules

Anti-Money Laundering, Counter - Terrorist Financing 

and Sanctions Module (“AML”) – Provides a single refer-
ence point for all persons and entities who are super-
vised by the DFSA for Anti-Money Laundering, Count-
er-Terrorist Financing and sanctions compliance under 
the Federal regime and the DIFC regime.

Pursuant to Federal Law on combating terrorist offences, 
the UAE Government maintains a list of designated 
terrorist organizations and groups. The UAE Government 
regularly updates this list and issues notifications to the 
effect. These notifications are adopted by the DFSA 
following which the DFSA issues SEO letters to all DIFC 
firms on the said notifications, laying down the proce-
dures to be followed and reports to be submitted by the 
firms in order to comply with the UAE Government notifi-
cations. Additionally, the DFSA, pursuant to relevant 
provisions of the Regulatory Law 2004 (as amended) on 
‘Anti- Money Laundering Compliance’, issues regular 
notifications on the announcements made by the United 

Nations (UN) Security Council Sanctions Committee.

The requirement and obligations contained in the AML 
Module include Governing Body & senior management’s 
responsibilities, anti-money laundering policies and 
procedures, rules regarding Money Laundering Report-
ing Officer (“MLRO”), risk-based assessment and custom-
er due diligence, suspicious activity reports, AML 
training and awareness, sanctions and other interna-
tional obligations.

Conduct of Business Module (“COB”) – Regulates the 
conduct of business including the conduct of insurance 
and reinsurance business in or from the DIFC.

General Module (“GEN”) – Prescribes the financial 
services which may be carried on by the Authorised Firms 
or regulated entities in the DIFC; sets out the fundamen-
tal regulatory obligations of the Authorised Firms while 
carrying out the financial services activities in the DIFC.

Prudential – Insurance Business Module (“PIN”) – Sets 
out the prudential requirements applicable to insurers 
providing financial services in or from the DIFC and all 
insurers/reinsurers in the DIFC are governed by the PIN 
Module.

Sourcebook Modules – Provide all appropriate forms and 
notices which must be submitted to the DFSA and consist 
of a Code of Market Conduct, Prudential Returns Module 
and Regulatory Policies and Process Sourcebook.

iii. Federal Laws/Regulations:

Economic Substance Regulations (ESR) – The UAE 
introduced ESR as applicable in onshore as well as in free 
zones. The purpose of ESR is to ensure that UAE entities 
undertaking certain activities report actual profits that 
are commensurate with the economic activities under-
taken within the UAE. Pursuant to the enactment of the 
UAE Economic Substance Regulations (ESR), the DIFC 
Registrar of Companies is the Regulatory Authority 
designated in the DIFC.

During the reporting year, the Company complied with its 
obligations towards notifying and reporting under the 
ESR within the prescribed timelines as set out by the UAE 
Ministry of Finance.

Capital Adequacy

As on March 31, 2023, the adjusted capital resources of the 
Company calculated as per App3 of the DFSA Rulebook, 
Prudential Insurance Business Module (“PIN Module”) were 
USD 24,853,307.

This is higher than the minimum capital requirement of USD 
11,162,139 calculated as per App4 of the PIN Module.

As on March 31, 2023, the Company was in compliance with 
the minimum capital adequacy requirements of the PIN 
Module.
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12,500

95,726

Sr. 
No.

Particulars Amount (USD)

1. Independent Directors’ Sitting Fees

Remuneration of Senior Management, Persons Undertaking Key Control Functions and Major Risk-
taking Employees2.

Particulars Description
Total Value of 

Transactions for 

FYE March 31, 2023

Total Value of 
Transactions for 

FYE March 31, 2021

Total Value of 
Transactions for 

FYE March 31, 2022

Amounts in USD

HDFC Life Insurance Co. Ltd. Share Capital

HDFC Life Insurance Co. Ltd. RI business written with 
Holding Company

HDFC Life Insurance Co. Ltd. Claims on RI business written
with Holding Company

HDFC Life Insurance Co. Ltd. Due from Holding Company for 
Reimbursements

29,500,000 29,500,000 29,500,000

592,019 1,118,461 3,539,359

(1,936,524) (3,663,416) (5,110,408)

- - 21,890

Related Party Transactions

Remuneration / Compensation of Directors, Senior Management, Persons Undertaking Key Control Functions and 
Major Risk-Taking Employees for the Period Under Review

Net worth

As on March 31, 2023, the Company’s net worth was USD 
25,372,005.

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of the Company oversees the 
business and operations of the Company. As on the date of 
this Report, the Company’s Board of Directors comprised of 
four Directors represented by two members from sharehold-
er’s/controllers’ organization and two Independent Direc-
tors. During the year, there was no change in the composi-
tion of the Board of Directors.

Following were the members of the Board of Director’s 
during FY 2022-23:

Ms. Vibha Padalkar

Non-Executive Director (Chairperson of the Board)

Mr. Yuvraj Narayan

Independent Director

Mr. Davinder Rajpal

Independent Director

Mr. Suresh Badami

Non-Executive Director

The Board has by way of resolution by circulation dated April 
26, 2023 considered and approved the appointment of
Mr. Sameer Yogishwar as an Additional Director of the 
Company with effect from April 26, 2023 subject to the 

approval of Members at the 7th AGM of the Company, by way 
of Ordinary Resolution. The necessary resolution for 
appointment of Mr. Sameer Yogishwar as Director of the 
Company has been included in the notice of the 7th AGM, for 
approval of the Members.

Senior Management, Persons Undertaking Key Control 
Functions and any Major Risk-Taking Employees

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) represents the senior manage-
ment team. Head – Finance & Accounts (Finance Officer) and 
Head - Risk & Compliance and MLRO (Compliance Officer, Risk 
Officer and MLRO) of the Company are designated as 
“Persons Undertaking Key Control Functions”, as per the 
relevant DFSA Rulebooks.

Related Party Transactions

There were no materially significant related party transactions 
with the Directors, the Management, subsidiaries or relatives 
of the Directors that have a potential conflict with the interests 
of the Company at large.    
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Auditors

During the year under review, Ernst & Young Middle East 
(Dubai Branch) was reappointed as the Auditor of the 
Company for the financial year 2022-23 at the 6th Annual 
General Meeting (AGM), to hold office until the conclusion of 
the forthcoming “AGM”.

The Board of Directors at their Meeting held on April 18, 
2023, after taking into consideration the recommendation of 
the Audit Committee, have approved the appointment of 
Ernst & Young Middle East (Dubai Branch) as Auditor of the 
Company from the conclusion of the 7th AGM until the 
conclusion of the 8th AGM of the Company.

The Board has recommended the same to the Members for 
their consideration and approval.

Risk Management

The Company recognizes Risk Management as an integral 
building block to manage risks and maximize opportunities 
related to achievement of strategic objectives. The 
Company’s risk taking is steered by the Risk Appetite 
Framework, which consists of two (2) interlinked 
components: risk appetite and risk tolerance /limits. The 
quantitative and qualitative risk appetite boundaries 
facilitate risk and capital led decision making and risk 
tolerance/limits sets boundaries for measured risk taking. 
The Company continuously reviews and updates its internal 
frameworks, models and parameters to reflect the 
experiences and changes in internal and external risk 
environment and current best practices. The Company's risk 
management system is agile and responsive to emerging 
risks and is able to effectively address changes in internal 
and external operating environment. The Company 
leverages on the risk management and controls framework 
that is developed to manage the uncertainties in achieving 
its strategic objectives. The Company has also put in place 
key policies that sets up clear channels of communication 
regarding risk management strategy, objectives and plans. In 
addition, the ERM Policy (“Policy”), including associated 
policies provides a base for the overall risk management 
framework of the Company. The Policy is reviewed by the 
Risk Management Committee and the Board of Directors on 
an annual basis.

The ERM framework operates with the following objectives:

Ensuring protection of the interests of our ceding and 
retrocession partners, shareholder(s), employees, and 
all the relevant stakeholder(s), including adherence to 
internal values framework.

Ensuring adherence to applicable DFSA rules and DIFC 
regulations and relevant federal directives by the 
statutory authorities, thereby maintaining an ethical 
and strong corporate governance culture.

Ensuring the risk assessment (identification, analysis, 
and evaluation) and risk treatment process is effective 
with the core objective of minimising risk and 
maximising opportunities for the Company.

Assuring in providing a systematic, structured, and 
strong mechanism to take smarter yet informed 
decisions whilst managing risk and uncertainty 
pragmatically including internal controls.

Assuring ERM is tailor-made and not one-size-fits-all, 
considering human and cultural factors in building lean 
processes and promoting strong risk and internal 
controls culture in the Company.

Internal Audit

As at the date of this report, the Company had utilized the 
services of RSM UAE (a DFSA registered auditor) for conduct 
of internal audit. The scope and mandate to the internal 
auditors were to ensure carrying out an independent review 
of the Company’s internal control framework including 
testing the effectiveness and adequacy of the Company’s 
policies, processes, practice and associated risk 
management framework. The Audit Committee of the Board 
has oversight responsibilities on internal audit including 
access to internal audit activities, reports, 
recommendations, observations and findings. The Board of 
Directors of the Company has adopted an “Internal Audit 
Charter” acknowledging that the internal auditors draw 
authority and powers from the Audit Committee and the 
Board of Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee of 
the Board reviews the “Annual Internal Audit Plan” and 
provides relevant inputs to the internal audit planning 
process, basis internal and external operating environment. 
During FY 2022-23, the Internal Audit Plan was structured in 
a manner to ensure comprehensive assessment including 
but not limited to review of critical business process 
controls. 

The Internal Audit framework operates with the following 
objectives:

Scope: The Internal Audit charter has defined the scope 
and authority of the internal audit activities, approved 
by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the 
Company.

Approach: The ‘Annual Internal Audit Plan’ adopts the 
Risk based Internal Audit (RbIA) methodology for 
undertaking internal audits, approved by the Audit 
Committee.

Objective: To test, objectively and independently, the 
design and operating effectiveness of the internal 
control framework and risk management practices.

Assurance: To provide independent and reasonable 
assurance about the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
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internal controls to the Audit Committee and the Board 
of Directors of the Company.

Reporting & Monitoring: The Audit Committee of the 
Board periodically reviews audit findings. The 
Management of the Company closely monitors the 
internal control framework to ensure recommendations 
and observations are effectively implemented.

Human Resources and People Development

The Company believes that a talented and dedicated 
workforce is a key pillar for a strong foundation, growth and 
efficiency. The Company’s HR Policies are in line with the DIFC 
Employment Laws and the Company has adopted the Talent 
Management strategies of its Parent Company, which are 
designed to achieve the twin objectives of personal 
development and organizational growth.

The Company’s workforce comprises of individuals from 
different countries and cultures, who bring on board a 
stream of cross-border experiences. We will continue to 
welcome and encourage diversity in our workforce as per the 
Company’s expansion plan.

Directors’ Statement

In accordance with the applicable DFSA Rules and DIFC Laws, 
the Board of Directors state that:

The Financial Statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

Such standards have been selected and applied 
consistently, and judgments and estimates made that 
are reasonable and prudent, so as to give a true and fair 
view of the Company’s statement of accounts for the 
period under review, and of the state of the Company’s 
financial position as at March 31, 2023.

The Company has complied with those provisions of DIFC 
Companies Law and PIN Rules that are applicable to it, 
throughout the financial reporting period.

The Directors are not aware of any relevant audit 
information of which the Company’s auditor is not aware, 
and the Directors have taken all reasonable steps to 
become aware of such relevant audit information.

Appreciation and Acknowledgement

The Directors thank all clients and business partners 
/associates for maintaining their trust in the Company. The 
Directors also thank the Company’s employees for their 
continued hard work, dedication and commitment; and the 
Management for its tireless effort in establishing the 
reinsurance business and the progress made.

The Directors further take this opportunity to thank HDFC 
Life, the sole Shareholder of the Company, and HDFC Limited 

for their invaluable and continued support and guidance. The 
Directors would also like to thank the DFSA, the DIFC 
Authority, Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority 
of India (IRDAI), Financial Regulatory Authority, Egypt and 
other Governmental and relevant regulatory authorities for 
the support, advice and direction provided from time to time.

On behalf of the Board of Directors of HDFC International Life 
& Re Company Limited
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The Company’s philosophy on Corporate Governance plays a 
vital role in protecting interest of all its stakeholders and it is 
based on the best practices related to Corporate Governance 
which includes Company’s vision, values, policies, processes 
and goals. The Company is also committed to comply with the 
requirements of the regulator, Dubai Financial Services 
Authority (DFSA), with regard to Corporate Governance 
standards as set out in the relevant Rulebook and implement 
an effective framework in order to help the Board, 
Management and Employees to function towards the interest 
of Stakeholders. At the core of its Corporate Governance 
practice is the Board, which oversees how the management 
serves and protects the long-term interests of all the 
stakeholders of the Company. The Company believes that an 
active, well-informed and independent Board is necessary to 
ensure the highest standards of corporate governance.

Sr. 
No.

Name of Director

1.

2.

3.

4.

Ms. Vibha Padalkar

Mr. Yuvraj Narayan

Mr. Davinder Rajpal

Mr. Suresh Badami

Status / Position

Non-Executive Director (Chairperson of the Board)

Independent Director

Independent Director

Non-Executive Director

As Member As Chairman

1

3

3

3

-

2

1

-

The composition of the Board of Directors as at March 31, 2023 is as under:

No of Committees

Corporate Governance Framework

i.

ii.

iii.

iv.                           

v.

vi.

Governing Body (Board of Directors)

The Company’s Governing Body encompasses the Board of 
Directors. As at March 31, 2023, there are total four Directors 
represented by two members from shareholder’s / 
controllers’ organization(s) and two Independent Directors 
who carry significant and rich experience in reinsurance, 
insurance, banking and in the overall financial services sector. 
The Chairmen of the Board sub-committees i.e. the Risk 
Management Committee, Audit Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee are the Independent Directors. 
This clearly reflects the adoption of international best 
practices in corporate governance. The Board is responsible 
for setting the business objectives and to provide strategic 
direction as well as to provide overall supervision of the 
Company. The Board is also responsible for overseeing the 
business plan, strategy and management of the Company. The 
Board also has oversight on internal control systems which 
include all policies, processes and functioning of the 
management team.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board of Directors upholds the interests of the 
Company’s shareholder and all relevant stake holders 
including its clients and business partners. The Board 
provides the management with guidance, strategic direction 
and oversees the Company’s overall business 
affairs/functioning.

The Board has an oversight on regulatory compliance and 
corporate governance matters and oversees the interests of 
various stakeholders.

The Directors attend and actively participate in Board 
Meetings, and meetings of the Committees in which they are 
members.

The Key Terms of Reference updated from time to time, assist 
the Board and management in clarifying responsibilities and 
ensuring effective communication between the Board and 
management. The Key Terms setting out the roles and 
responsibilities of the Governing Body, and subsequent 
updates, if any, were adopted and approved by the Board.

Board of Directors’ Meetings

During the year under review, the Board meetings were held 
4 times (once a quarter) to review the Company’s quarterly 

performance, financial results, review the business, consider 
business strategies and their implementation including review 
and discussion of systems and controls in place etc. The 
Meetings of the Board of Directors and the Board Committees 
were held in Dubai.

In case any matter required urgent attention, resolutions 
were circulated for approval of the Board. The Board was 
provided with requisite information and detailed agenda 
papers, together with necessary supporting papers, as 
required. The Board papers, agenda and other explanatory 
notes are circulated to the Directors in advance, and include:

Minutes of the previous Board and Committee meetings 
(including minutes of Management Committee Meetings)

Financial results/accounts

Capital adequacy review update

Business review, update and strategy overview

Annual business plans, budgets, and updates on the 
same

Investment Strategy for the Company’s capital and  
update on investment performance
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vii.

viii.

ix.

x.                           

xi.

xii.

xiii.

Actuarial report/update

Compliance Monitoring & AML process Review Reports

Periodic AML Reports/Returns

Regulatory update

Risk management update

Overall Business Objectives & Risk Strategy (Annual)

Review and approval of Company Policies

Board Meetings held during FY 2022-23

The Board of Directors met four times during FY 2022-23 viz. 
April 21, 2022, July 14, 2022, October 17, 2022 and January 
16, 2023.

Committees of the Board of Directors

During the year under review, the Audit and Risk Manage-
ment Committee meetings were held on quarterly basis, and 
Remuneration Committee was held on annual basis.
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Corporate Governance Framework

Board Committees

Yuvraj Narayan -
Independent Director
(Chairman)

Davinder Rajpal -
Independent Director

Suresh Badami -
Non-Executive 
Director

Responsibilities as per Key Terms of Reference Members

Audit
Committee

4

Committee

No. of

Meetings

held during

the Year

Board Committee Meetings held during FY 2022-23

The Audit and Risk Management Committees met four times 
during FY 2022-23 viz. April 21, 2022, July 14, 2022, October 
17, 2022 and January 16, 2023; and Remuneration Commit-
tee was held on April 21, 2022.

The functions of the Board Committees are governed by the 
Key Terms of References of the Board Committees which are 
approved by the Board from time to time. During Financial 
Year 2022-23, key financials, actuarial, compliance related 
matters were updated and approved by the Audit Committee 
and the Board of Directors. Further, Risk reports were placed 
before the Risk Management Committee on a quarterly basis. 
Key risk management related matters were updated and 
approved by the Risk Management Committee. 

The minutes of the Audit and Risk Management Committee 
meetings were placed at the Board Meeting of the Company. 
The details of the various Board Committees, including their 
composition and Responsibilities as per their Key Terms of 
Reference as at March 31, 2023 are given below:

To monitor the integrity of financial statements and any
announcement relating to actual and forecast of financial
performance including management discussion and analysis

To review any unusual accounting reporting brought to its 
attention requiring the exercise of managerial jurisprudence 
potentially impacting the preparation of financial statements

To monitor the relationship with DFSA/DIFC as per the relevant
regulatory requirement, including review of the scope, approach 
and result of accounting related reporting

To review the accounting policies, controls and procedures 
established by executive management for compliance with 
regulatory and mandatory financial reporting requirements

To monitor any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in 
the internal control structure as reported by risk management& 
internal control and external auditors

To review the internal control of financial management, 
compliance with local laws, statutes and regulations including 
safeguarding assets and intellectual property

Recommending the appointment and removal of Statutory Auditor 
/  Internal Auditor, fixation of audit fee and also approval for 
payment for any other services, including review of their 
performance and oversight

Ensuring the compliance of the conditions for appointment and
eligibility of Statutory Auditors of the Company as stipulated by 
the Regulatory Authority from time to time

Review of performance of the Statutory Auditors

Oversight of the Company's financial reporting process and the
disclosure of its financial information to ensure that the financial 
statement is correct, sufficient and credible and financial  
statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS



Davinder Rajpal-
Independent Director
(Chairman)

Yuvraj Narayan -
Independent Director 

Suresh Badami 
Non-Executive
Director

Responsibilities as per Key Terms of Reference Members

Risk
Management
Committee

4

Committee

No. of

Meetings

held during

the Year
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Board Committees

Audit
Committee

Review of all regulatory returns and ensure that the returns are
prepared and submitted in accordance with the requirements set
out in DFSA PIN rules and regulations

Review of the accounts/financial statements and ensure that the
accounts/financial statements of the Company comply with the
applicable legislation in the DIFC

ERM  Policy: To  review the  implementation  of  policy and strategy
whileTo review any unusual accounting reporting brought to its
attentionensuring adequacy and effectiveness of risks and
internal controls

ERM Strategy: To ensure ERM is aligned to the objectives and the
framework attains maturity basis change in internal and external
environment

ERM Profile: To review the Company risk profile relative to risk
tolerance and limits and review outcomes on internal and external
risk reviews

ERM Architecture: To review the risk assessment (identification,
analysis and evaluation), risk treatment, risk monitoring & review
nomenclature

Risk Appetite: To consider and set risk objectives and appetite basis
the strategic objectives and forward looking internal and
external environment

Risk Portfolio: To consider and review the Company's  portfolio of
risks vis-a-vis internal and external environment including any 
other relevant factors which has a bearing on the Company's 
objectives

Risk Capital: To consider and review the Company's regulatory 
(DFSA) risk capital which is dove-tailed across the spectrum of 
material risks

Risk Assessments: To review outcomes of risk management reports
including scenario & stress testing explaining crystallization of
material risks

Risk-Reward:  Ensure the  committee  is taking  appropriate
measures to achieve a prudent balance between risk & reward
(upside risk)

Yuvraj Narayan-
Independent Director
(Chairman)

Davinder Rajpal -
Independent Director 

Vibha Padalkar -
Non-Executive
Director

Suresh Badami -
Non-Executive
Director

Remuneration
Committee

1Formulate and oversee the policies and procedures covering formal
and transparent process for Company's remuneration structure
and strategy

Regular review of Company's remuneration practices and procedures
and its effectiveness and adequacy

Formulate an appropriate succession planning for key control functions

Assessment of performance of staff including key controlling functions

Undertake all activities in consideration of the best practices as laid
down in the DFSA laws and regulations



in the life reinsurance, life insurance, banking and the financial 
services space. They are entrusted with the responsibility for the 
effective functioning of the Company including execution of the 
Company’s strategic objectives and ultimately working towards 
fulfilment of the long-term vision of the Company. Also, in 
line with the international best practices, the Company has 
independent functions with respect to managing underwrit-
ing, actuarial, compliance, risk and internal audit with clear 
responsibilities, reporting lines, segregation of duties and 
responsibilities with no conflict of interest, to enable 
decision making with reasonable prudence.

Compliance & Anti- Money Laundering (AML) Framework

The Company continues to take appropriate steps towards 
its commitment to ensure to comply with the applicable law 
of the DIFC and the rules and regulations of the DFSA. The 
Company also monitors relevant jurisdictions and applies 
prudent and enhanced processes to ensure to comply with 
relevant sanctions regimes and applicable regulations. 
During the year under review, the compliance and AML 
processes & procedures were strengthened further to 
ensure that the Company and its staff (staff includes employ-
ees, directors etc. as interpreted in the manuals) conduct 
business activities in compliance with the DFSA rules and 
regulations which they are subject to, and also as stated in 
the Compliance & AML Manuals.

During the year under review, the Compliance Officer 
performed regular review and monitoring activities as per 
the compliance monitoring plan adopted by the Company. 
The results were documented and review reports were 
placed before the Board on quarterly basis. Periodic updates 
were given to the parent, Audit Committee, Management 
Committee and the Board of Directors of the Company.

The Company has strengthened AML processes particularly 
client on boarding KYC processes and procedures including 
KYC renewal process, Enhanced Due Diligence Process, 
specifically in respect of relevant sanctions, during the year 
under review and has maintained the records throughout the 
year.

All employees were made conversant with the procedures 
contained in the Compliance Manual, AML Policies and Proce-
dures (AML Manual) and periodic trainings and regular 
updates are provided to ensure that they are fully aware of 
regulatory changes that are applicable to the Company.

The Board of Directors approved the Compliance and AML 
Manuals and will review each year to ensure that it continues 
to reflect the procedures affecting and relating to the 
business.

During the year, no instances of breaches were reported and 
no reports were made on non-compliance with applicable 
legal or regulatory requirements.

HDFC Life’s and HDFC Group’s reputation is an important 
asset, which the Company protects, through a compliance, 

Other Internal Committees

During the year under review, Management Committee meet-
ings were held on a monthly basis and ALCO meetings were 
held on a quarterly basis.

The minutes of the Management Committee meetings were 
placed at the Board Meeting.

Management Committee

The Committee comprises of the Chief Executive Officer and 
six members representing each key function of the Company, 
and the Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Commit-
tee.

As on March 31, 2023, the Management Committee 
comprised of the following members:

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) - Chairman

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Appointed Actuary

Head – Customer Relations and Business Systems

Head – Legal & Company Secretary

Head – Risk & Compliance and MLRO

Head - Finance & Accounts

The Quorum for the meeting is five members including the 
Chairman of the Committee.

Number of Meetings held

During FY 2022-23, the Management Committee met once in 
a month and as on March 31, 2023, twelve meetings were 
held in total.

Asset Liability Committee (ALCO)

The Committee comprises of the Chief Executive Officer and 
three members representing actuarial, finance and risk 
functions of the Company, and the Finance Officer acts as 
Secretary to the Committee.

As on March 31, 2023, ALCO comprised of the following 
members:

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) - Chairman

Appointed Actuary

Head - Finance & Accounts

Head – Risk & Compliance and MLRO

The Quorum for the meeting is three members including the 
Chairman of the Committee 

Number of Meetings held

During FY 2022-23, the ALCO met quarterly and as on March 
31, 2023, four meetings were held in total.

Key Management Persons Team

The leadership of the Company comprises of the CEO and his 
management team, who are experienced, qualified professionals 

Corporate Governance Framework
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AML & Compliance Monitoring program approved by the 
Board and through a forward-looking risk assessment as part 
of our Enterprise Risk Management Framework approved by 
the Risk Management Committee.

Internal Audit

During the year under review, the Company has revised the 
Internal Audit Charter and enhanced the scope of the 
internal audit detailing the roles and responsibilities of 
Internal Audit function and the same was approved by the 
Audit Committee.

During the Financial Year, RSM UAE, a DIFC & DFSA registered 
firm was reappointed for performing Internal Audit function 
and internal audit was undertaken from April 1, 2022 to
December 31, 2022.

Actuarial Review

Appointed Actuary undertakes periodic review of Capital 
adequacy and technical provisions. Appointed Actuary 
provides an Actuarial Report to DFSA on an annual basis.

Policies and Framework

During the year under review, the Company has further 
strengthened the systems and controls for effective 
management of the Company. The Company has documented 
policies, procedures and manuals as appropriate to the 
nature of business and in line with the regulatory require-
ments.

Each of the policies and its revisions were approved by the 
Board of Directors/Board Committees, as may be applicable.

Regular and periodic reviews were performed and review results/ 
reports are periodically updated to the Board/Committees/parent 
Company. The Policies were reviewed annually and amended 
when deemed necessary, to ensure proper alignment with the 
business operations and regulatory requirements.

Key policies, manuals, framework required under the 
applicable laws, rules and regulations are:

Accounting Policies and Procedures Manual

The Company being an Authorised Firm in the DFSA regulated
regime, is committed to having effective policies and proce-
dures. The Accounting Policies and Procedures Manual 
provides a general overview of Company’s accounting policy 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

Anti-Money Laundering (AML) Policies and Procedures 

Manual

In line with the requirements of the DFSA AML Rules, Company 
has put in place effective AML processes and procedures. The 
AML Manual sets out the parameters to be followed to 
ensure the effective implementation of AML guidelines 
issued by the DFSA from time to time, while conducting the 
business activities in the DIFC.

Asset-Liability Management (“ALM”) Policy

The Company has put in place an ALM Policy to ensure strict 
compliance with applicable DFSA PIN Rule norms and other 
applicable rules and regulations as prescribed by the DFSA. 
The ALM Policy sets out the ALM framework of the Company.

Business Continuity Management (“BCM”) Policy

As per DFSA rules and regulations, it is imperative to develop, 
implement and maintain sound and prudent business conti-
nuity strategy for the Company. In this respect, the Company 
has established BCM Policy which encompasses the BCM 
philosophy, the BCM governance structure, the BCM planning 
process (methodology and testing), crisis management and 
disaster recovery.

Claims Policy

Claims policy of the Company provides a general overview of 
Company’s internal claims policy including claims docu-
mentation requirements, claims assessment, claims 
underwriting and settlement processes etc.

Compliance Manual

As per the regulatory requirements, the Company has put in 
place an effective Compliance Manual while conducting 
business in the DIFC. The Compliance Manual outlines the 
compliance policies and procedures of the Company and it 
sets out the DFSA and DIFC regulatory obligations to which 
the Company and its Staff are subject to and describes the 
high-level controls and responsibilities existing within the 
Company.

Compliance Monitoring Programme

The Compliance Monitoring Programme sets out the process 
and procedures to ensure the compliance of rules and 
regulations when undertaking Regulated activities in or 
from the DIFC by performing periodic review of the process 
and procedures in place by way of compliance testing to 
ensure that any compliance breaches are identified and 
corrective action measures are taken promptly.

The Compliance Monitoring Programme shall monitor and 
test the Company’s level of compliance to DIFC and DFSA 
laws, regulations and standards which the Company is 
subject to.

In particular, the programme carries out formal periodic 
reviews of the Company's compliance records, policies and 
procedures; by performing sufficient and comprehensive 
compliance testing.

The compliance monitoring program is driven by the principles 
of risk management, and consists of the following cycle:

Planning;

Assessment;

Implementation;

Monitoring; and

Reporting
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Corporate Governance Policy

Corporate Governance is a framework of systems, policies, 
procedures and controls through which an entity:

promotes the sound and prudent management of its 
business;

protects the interests of its customers and stakeholders; 
and

places clear responsibility for achieving (1) and (2) on the 
Board and its members and the senior management of 
the Company.

The above Policy is normally reviewed annually and modi-
fied, when deemed necessary, to ensure proper alignment 
with best practices relating to Corporate Governance 
standards in accordance with the DIFC Companies Law and 
relevant DFSA Rulebook.

Data Protection Policies and Framework

Pursuant to the changes in Data Protection Laws, Data protec-
tion Law (DIFC Law No. 5 of 2020), the Company has put in 
place, Data Protection Policies and Framework (“Policy”).

The Policy describes the detailed policies and procedures to 
be followed by the management and staff of the Company to 
ensure compliance with the DIFC Data Protection laws and 
regulations, as amended from time to time (“DPL”). The 
DIFC’s data protection legislation and the DIFC Data Protec-
tion Regulations place responsibilities and limitations on 
businesses and organisations undertaking activities in the 
DIFC and protects personal information in relation to individ-
uals gathered in the course of Company’s business.

This Policy is designed to safeguard the rights of individuals 
in relation to the processing of personal data, by manual and 
automated means (in both paper and electronic format). The 
purpose of the policy is to set out the relevant legislation 
and to describe the steps the Company is taking to ensure 
that it complies with it. The policy also sets out the process 
and the framework within which to collect, use and protect 
Personal and Sensitive Data.

The Policy also includes the Privacy Policy Notice as notified 
on the website as required by the Law. Data Protection 
Officer (“DPO”) was also appointed by the Board to fulfil the 
responsibility for oversight and compliance with respect to 
the duties and obligations as per the Data Protection Policy 
and Framework and under the DPL.

Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) Policy

A separate report on Enterprise Risk Management frame-
work has been included in this document, describing the 
enterprise risk management architecture. 

HR Policies & Processes

The Company has adopted HR Policies as per the DIFC 
Employment Laws. HR Policies and Processes lay down the 
guidelines that will govern all eligible employees of the 
Company. 

Information Security Policies (Cybersecurity Risk 

Management Policy)

The Information Security Policies including the Cybersecurity 
Risk Management Policy comprise of the following:

IS Policy Statement – The Information Security Policy 
Statement establishes management directives to 
protect the information assets of the Company from all 
known threats, whether internal or external, deliberate 
or accidental. The implementation of this Policy is essen-
tial to maintain the confidentiality, integrity and 
availability of data processed by the Company for its 
business requirements.

Information Security Policy – This policy provides a 
standard while developing a security plan detailing 
management, technical and operation controls.

Acceptable Usage Policy – This policy outlines acceptable 
use of computing equipment, network and information assets 
of the Company. This policy is to ensure that the Company 
assets and information are appropriately protected.

User Access Management Policy – The purpose of this 
policy is to prevent unauthorised access to the Company 
information systems. The policy describes the registration,
privilege management, accounting, de-registration 
process for all Company information systems and 
services.

Antivirus Policy – This policy defines rules for protecting 
the Company's systems from viruses, worms, spams, 
malicious codes etc., using Antivirus solutions for the 
Company.

Investment Management Policy

The purpose of the Investment Management Policy is to 
provide a formal plan for investing ceding insurers’ premia 
and shareholders’ funds and is also set forth to:

1. Define and assign the responsibilities of all involved 
parties

2. Provide guidance to the Investment Management 
Function

3. Establish the relevant investment horizon for which the 
assets will be managed

4. Specify permissible investments, restrictions on invest-
ments and diversification requirements

5. Provide ongoing oversight of investments by the ALCO

Remuneration Policy

The Company’s remuneration structure and strategies are 
governed by Remuneration Policy. In line with the require-
ments of applicable provisions of DFSA Rules/guidance 
(General Module) relating to corporate governance and 
remuneration, the Company has put in place a Remuneration 
Policy setting out the broad guidelines on remuneration 

1.

2.

3.
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philosophy and compensation structure of employees of the 
Company. The Policy ensures the performance evaluation 
process, compensation structure, broad guidelines on 
annual increments/promotions and pay out process for 
remuneration of Company’s employees.

Treaty Execution Management Policy

The Treaty Execution Management Policy describes the 
detailed procedures to be followed by the Staff of the 
Company to ensure timely execution of Treaties in compli-
ance with the laws, regulations and rules governing the 
conduct of business in the Dubai International Financial 
Centre (“DIFC”) and in accordance with best market conduct 
practices and professional service standards.

The purpose of this framework is to strengthen the Treaty 
execution process, effective coordination and timely 
decision making between teams. It helps the Company to 
fulfil its Treaty execution requirements in a coordinated, 
consistent and timely manner.

Underwriting Policy

As per DFSA PIN regulations, it is imperative to implement an 
appropriate Underwriting Policy. In this respect, the Company 
has implemented an appropriate Underwriting Policy for its 
reinsurance operations. The broad contour of the Underwriting 
policy enunciates the core objectives of Underwriting risk 
assessment.
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of HDFC International 
Life & Re Company Limited (the “Company”), which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the acCompanying financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 
March 2023 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements section of our report. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the 
shareholders of the Company, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (the “IESBA Code”) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the Dubai International Financial Centre, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with 
governance for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs 
and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Dubai 
Financial Services Authority Prudential Rulebooks, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible 
for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors 
either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance is responsible for overseeing the 
Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 

a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Digitally Signed by:
Sd/-
James Potter 

Partner

19 April 2023
Dubai, United Arab Emirates

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders
of HDFC International Life & Re Company Limited
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SURESH BADAMI

DIRECTOR

Sd/-

SAMEER YOGISHWAR

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Sd/-

HARPREET SINGH KALRA

Sd/-

As at 31 March 2023
Statement of Financial Position

135,144
12,438

157,019
26,083,113

2,108,274
2,804,077

817,449
505,550

5,795,000
1,918,048

5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14

ASSETS

Right-of-use asset
Property and equipment
Intangible asset
Held to maturity investments
Reinsurance contract assets
Reinsurance balance receivables
Retrocession balance receivables
Prepayments and other receivables
Deposit with banks
Bank balances and cash

29,500,000
(4,538,391)

15Share capital
Accumulated losses

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

40,336,112

Notes
2023
USD

2022
USD

TOTAL EQUITY 24,961,609

15,374,503

146,118
10,768,175

98,474
5,290

4,174,366
182,080

5
9

16
17
18
19

Lease Liabilities
Reinsurance contract liabilities

Retrocession balance payables
Reinsurance balance payables
Accrued and other payables

TOTAL LIABILITIES

40,336,112TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

45,048
16,491

188,994
26,421,952

3,161,684
5,521,436

513,797
551,214

5,300,000
2,199,211

29,500,000
(4,127,995)

43,919,827

25,372,005

49,189
12,316,296

82,519
1,501,419
4,375,903

222,496

18,547,822

43,919,827

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 18th April 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

The attached notes 1 to 27 form part of these financial statements. 228
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Accumulated

losses

USD

Share

capital

USD

Total

USD

BALANCE AS AT 31 MARCH 2023

Balance as at 1 April 2021
Net comprehensive loss for the year

Balance as at 31 March 2022
Net comprehensive income for the year

28,939,701

(3,978,092)

24,961,609

410,396

(560,299)
(3,978,092)

(4,538,391)
410,396

29,500,000
-

29,500,000
-

29,500,000 25,372,005(4,127,995)

Statement of Changes in Equity
As at 31 March 2023

15,636,904
(2,088,948)

Gross reinsurance premium
Reinsurance premium ceded

(18,393,276)
3,066,360

(1,407,648)

(397,773)
8

Claims incurred
Reinsurance claims - retrocession share
Change in reinsurance contract liabilities
(net of reinsurance assets)
Business Acquisition Expenses
Retrocession Commission

Net reinsurance premium written 13,547,956

Notes
2023
USD

2022
USD

Net technical reserves and expenses (17,132,329)

NET PROFIT/ (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 410,396 (3,978,092)

17,223,737
(2,963,713)

(13,867,183)
1,542,475
(494,712)

(465,234)
9,972

14,260,024

(13,274,682)

Other comprehensive income - -

Other income
Net investment income
General and administration expenses

68,947 7,333
854,592 793,600

(1,498,485) (1,194,652)
3
4

(3,978,092)410,396

As at 31 March 2023
Statement of Comprehensive Income

The attached notes 1 to 27 form part of these financial statements. 229
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(3,978,092)

36,115
92,774

(793,600)
50,500

2,344

410,396

51,594
90,096

(854,592)
51,328

1,855

6,7
5

16
5

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net profit/ (loss) for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization charges
Depreciation on right-of-use asset
Net investment income
Provision for end of service benefits
Interest expense

1,100,034
1,911,175
(813,779)

944
307,614

2,499,547
(723,058)

18,508
21,890

(49,246)

(1,053,410)
(2,717,359)

303,652
(157,246)
1,548,121

201,537
1,496,129

40,416
-

(67,283)16

WORKING CAPITAL CHANGES
Reinsurance contract assets
Reinsurance balance receivable
Retrocession balance receivable
Prepayment and other receivables
Reinsurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance balance payables
Retrocession balance payables
Accrued and other payables
Amount due from Holding Company
Employees’ end of service benefits paid

(249,323) (4,589,959)

Notes
2023
USD

2022
USD

(654,766) (316,330)

(58,229)
(12,800,625)

852,640
6,700,000

(87,621)
(500,632)
1,127,966

495,000

6,7

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of intangible & fixed assets
Additions of held to maturity investment
Investment income received
Deposits with banks

14

(2,344)
(73,655)

(1,855)
(96,929)

5
5

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest expense
Payment of principal portion of lease liability

CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (98,784) (75,999)

(5,698,543)281,163NET INCREASE /(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

7,616,5911,918,048CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

1,918,0482,199,211CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF YEAR

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

1,034,713 (5,306,214)
NET CASH FLOWS GENERATED FROM/ (USED IN) 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

As at 31 March 2023
Statement of Cashflows
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1     ACTIVITIES

HDFC International Life & Re Company Limited’ (the “Compa-
ny”) was incorporated in Dubai International Financial 
Centre(“DIFC”) as a Company Limited by Shares under the 
previ ous Companies Law, DIFC Law No. 2 of 2009, on January 
10, 2016, under registration number 2067. The Company has 
been designated as a Private Company under the Companies 
Law, DIFC Law no. 5 of 2018 as on the date of its enactment. 
The Company is regulated by the Dubai Financial Services 
Authority (“DFSA”) and is licensed to undertake life and 
health reinsurance business. It provides risk-transfer 
solutions, prudent underwriting solutions and value-added 
services, among others, across individual life, group life, 
group credit life and group medical lines of business. The 
Company currently offers reinsurance solutions in the Gulf 
Cooperation Council (“GCC”), Middle East & North Africa 
(“MENA”) regions and India. The registered address of the 
Company is Unit OT 17-30, Level 17, Central Park, Dubai 
International Financial Centre, PO Box 114603, Dubai, United 
Arab Emirates.

The Company is wholly owned by HDFC Life Insurance 
Company Limited (“HDFC Life” or “Holding Company”). The 
registered address of the Holding Company is 13th Floor, 
Lodha Excelus, Apollo Mills Compound, N.M. Joshi Road, 
Mumbai, India. Established in 2000, HDFC Life is one of 
India’s leading life insurers, offering a range of individual and 
group insurance solutions that meet various customer needs 
such as Protection, Pension, Savings, Investment, Annuity 
and Health. HDFC Life Insurance Company Limited is a listed 
life insurance entity promoted by HDFC Ltd., India’s leading 
housing finance institution and Standard Life Aberdeen 
(formerly known as Standard Life plc), a global investment 
Company.

The Company has been granted the Certificate of Registra-
tion to set up HDFC International Life & Re, IFSC Branch 
(Overseas Branch) in GIFT City, IFSC (regulated by the IFSCA) 
for conduct of life and health insurance classes of business. 
Commencement of business will be during FY 2023-24.

In December 2018, S&P Global Ratings had assigned the 
Company a long-term insurer Financial Strength Rating (FSR) 
of “BBB” with a stable outlook. Subsequently in December 
2019, December 2020 and October 2021, S&P Global Ratings 
confirmed the long-term insurer Financial Strength Rating 
(FSR) of the Company, while maintaining the outlook as 
“Stable”. In October 2022, S&P Global Ratings confirmed the 
long-term insurer Financial Strength Rating (FSR) of the 
Company, while changing the outlook as “Negative”.

2     SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1  BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements are prepared under the historical 
cost convention. The financial statements have been 
presented in US Dollars (USD), which is also the functional 
currency of the Company. The Company’s financial state-

ments have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Presentation of financial statements
The Company presents its statement of financial position 
broadly in order of liquidity, with a distinction based on 
expectations regarding recovery or settlement within 
twelve months after the reporting date (current) and more 
than twelve months after the reporting date (non-current), 
presented in the notes.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount 
is reported in the statement of financial position only when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or 
to realize the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. 
Income and expenses are not offset in the statement of 
comprehensive income unless required or permitted by any 
accounting standard or interpretation, and as specifically 
disclosed in the accounting policies of the Company.

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Account-
ing Standards Board (IASB) and the applicable requirements 
of the DFSA Prudential Rulebooks.

New standards and interpretations effective after 1 April 
2022
The following new and revised IFRS, which became effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022, have 
been adopted, where ever applicable, in these financial 
statements. The application of these revised IFRSs have not 
had any material impact on the amounts reported for the 
current and prior years.

2.2     CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 
relating to 'Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2, 
that address issues that might affect financial reporting 
after the reform of an interest rate benchmark, including 
its replacement with alternative benchmark rates.

Amendments relating to IAS 16, IAS 37, IFRS 3 and some 
annual improvements on IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IAS 41 and IFRS 16

Amendment to IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ to provide lessees with 
an exemption from assessing whether a COVID-19- 
related rent concession is a lease modification. On 31 
March 2021, the IASB published an additional amend-
ment to extend the date of the practical expedient from 
30 June 2021 to 30 June 2022.

Standards issued but not yet effective
The new and amended standards and interpretations that 
are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance 
of the Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. 
The Company intends to adopt these new and amended 
standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they 
become effective.

As at 31 March 2023
Notes to the Financial Statements
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Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current. Effective for annual period 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates. 
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2023. Early adoption is permitted.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2:

Disclosure of Accounting Policies. Effective for annual 
period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier 
application permitted.

IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts. Effective for annual period 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

IFRS 17: ‘Insurance Contracts
IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or 
after  1 January 2023, with comparative figures required. 
Early application is permitted, provided the entity also 
applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the date it first 
applies IFRS 17. The Company is currently evaluating the 
expected impact. The Company has also taken the 
temporary exemption to defer the adoption of IFRS 15 
and IFRS 9 till the adoption of IFRS 17

The Company is currently working on the following areas 
to ensure successful implementation of IFRS 17 and 
compliance with the regulatory requirements:

finalization of transition balances as at financial year 
ended 31 March 2022

testing on comparatives for the financial year 2022-23

finalization of User Acceptance testing of the IFRS 17 
engine

configuration of data reports as per the requirements of 
IFRS 17

continuation of the knowledge transfer and trainings of 
key stakeholders in the business, and

implementation of future financial and data governance 
processes and accountabilities.

The above areas are driven jointly by actuarial and finance 
function under the supervision of the management committee of 
Company.

Company’s more than 90% business is short term in nature 
and less then 10% business is long term. On account of 
above, Company is not expecting significant impact.

2.3     SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in the prepara-
tion of the financial statements are set out below:

Gross reinsurance premiums
Gross reinsurance written premiums comprise the total 
premiums receivable for the period of cover provided by 
contracts entered during the accounting period and are 
recognised on the date on which the cover commences. The 
premiums recognition is based on a combination of actual 
reinsurance premium reflected in the reinsurance premium 
statements (statement of account) received from the 
cedents and an estimation of reinsurance premium expected 

to be received for the risks that would be reinsured with the 
Company. The estimation is based on historicals, and / or 
indications from cedents on the risks written/ expected to 
be written.

Reinsurance premium ceded
Reinsurance premiums ceded comprise the total premiums 
payable for the whole cover provided by contracts entered 
during the accounting period and are recognised on the date 
on which the cover commences.

Policy acquisition costs
Commissions and other costs directly related to the acquisi-
tion and renewal of insurance contracts are charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income when incurred.

Functional Currency
The Company’s financial statements are presented in USD, 
which is the Company’s functional currency. 

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by 
the Company’s entities at  their respective functional 
currency average/spot rates at the date the transaction first 
qualifies for recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign curren-
cies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of 
exchange at the reporting date.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary 
items are recognized in statement of profit and loss with the 
exception of monetary items that are designated as part of 
the hedge of the Company’s net investment of a foreign 
operation. These are recognized in other comprehensive 
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which 
time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit and loss. 
Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences 
on those monetary items are also recorded in other compre-
hensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translat-
ed using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-mon-
etary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the 
recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value of the item 
(i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or 
loss is recognized in other comprehensive income or state-
ment of income are also recognized in other comprehensive 
income or statement of income, respectively).

Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.



Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lock in period 
of leased premises subject to maximum period of five years. 
Assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimat-
ed useful lives as given above.

Property and equipment not commissioned are stated at cost. 
When commissioned, they are transferred to the appropriate 
property and equipment category and depreciated in accordance 
with the Company’s policies. Expenditure incurred to replace a 
component of an item of property and equipment that is account-
ed for separately capitalized and the carrying amount of the 
component that is replaced is written off. Other subsequent 
expenditure is capitalized only when it increases future economic 
benefits of the related item of property and equipment. All other 
expenditure is recognized in the statement of income as the 
expense is incurred.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in the 
statement of income.

Intangible asset
Intangible asset comprising of computer software are stated at 
cost of acquisition, including any cost attributable for bringing the 
same to its working condition for its intended use, less accumulat-
ed amortisation and impairment, if any. These are amortized over 
the useful life of the software subject to a maximum of five years. 
Subsequent expenditure incurred on existing assets is expensed 
out except where such expenditure increases the future 
economic benefits from the existing assets, in which case the 
expenditure is amortized over the remaining useful life of the 
original asset. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an 
intangible asset are determined by comparing proceeds with the 
carrying amount. These are included in the statement of income.

Right of use lease asset
The Company recognizes right-of-use assets at the commence-

ment date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less 
any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjust-
ed for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of 
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recog-
nized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date less any lease incentives 
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful 
lives of the assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the 
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a 
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated 
useful life of the asset. The right-of-use assets are also subject to 
impairment.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the statement of 
financial position when the Company becomes a party to contrac-
tual provisions of the instrument. From this date any gains and 
losses arising from changes in fair value of the assets or liabilities 
designated at fair value through statement of profit and loss or 
available-for-sale assets are recognized. Receivables are recog-
nized on the day they are transferred to or acquired by the Company.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within a time frame established by regulation or conven-
tion in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognized on the 
trade date, i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchase or 
sell the asset. The Company’s financial assets include reinsurance 
assets and receivables, bank balances and deposit and HTM 
investments.

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities are classified as held to maturity 
when the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold 
until maturity. After initial measurement, held to maturity 
financial assets are measured at amortized cost, using the EIR, 
less impairment. The EIR amortization is included in ‘Investment 
income’ in the statement of comprehensive income. Gains and 
losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income 
when the investments are derecognized or impaired, as well as 
through the amortization process.

For those investments deemed to be held to maturity, manage-
ment ensures that the requirements of IAS 39 are met and that the 
Company has the intention and ability to hold these to maturity.

Subsequent measurement
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognized initially at its 
fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or a financial liability 
not at fair value through profit and loss, transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial 
asset or financial liability.

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets are 
measured at fair value, except that any instrument that does not 

Useful life 
in years

IT equipment - End user devices
IT equipment - Servers and networks 
Furniture and Fixtures
Office equipment

3
4
5
5

Items of property and equipment

As at 31 March 2023
Notes to the Financial Statements
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Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or are recognized as a separate asset, as appropri-
ate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Company and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs 
and maintenance expenses are charged to the statement of 
income during the financial period in which they are 
incurred.

Freehold land and fixed assets not commissioned are not 
depreciated. The estimated useful life of fixed assets for the 
Company is as follows:



As at 31 March 2023
Notes to the Financial Statements

have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair 
value cannot be measured reliably is stated at cost, including 
transaction costs, less impairment allowances.

All other financial assets and non-trading financial liabilities are 
measured at amortized cost less impairment allowances.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position 
comprise cash at bank and short- term deposits with original maturi-
ty of three months or less.

Derecognition
The Company derecognizes financial assets when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the 
rights to receive the contractual cash flows from the financial 
asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the ownership of the financial assets are trans-
ferred. Any interest in derecognized financial assets that is 
created or retained by the Company is recognized as a separate 
asset or liability.

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contrac-
tual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.

Investment income
Interest income is recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
income as it accrues and is calculated by using EIR method. Fees 
and commissions that are an integral part of the effective yield of 
the financial asset are recognized as an adjustment to the EIR of 
the instrument.

Investment income also includes dividends when the right to 
receive payment is established.

Reinsurance ancillary support (RAS) Income
Reinsurance ancillary support(RAS) income is getting generat-
ed through providing policy administration activities 
support for the ceding insurance companies. RAS income is 
recognized in the statement of compressive income on 
accrual basis.

Impairment of financial assets
An assessment is made at each statement of financial position 
date to determine whether there is objective evidence that a 
specific financial asset may be impaired. If such evidence 
exists, any impairment loss is recognised in the statement 
of income. Impairment is determined as follows:

a. For assets carried at fair value, impairment is the differ-
ence between cost and fair value, less any impairment 
loss previously recognised in the statement of income;

b. For assets carried at cost, impairment is the difference 
between carrying value and the present value of future 
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of 
return for a similar financial asset; and

c. For assets carried at amortised cost, impairment is the 
difference between carrying amount and the present 
value of future cash flows discounted at the original 

effective interest rate.

Impairment of non-financial assets (excluding goodwill)
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indica-
tion exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset 
is required, the Company estimates the asset’s recoverable 
amount. 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or 
cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other 
assets or Company’s assets. Where the carrying amount of 
an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using discount rates 
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair 
value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken 
into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an 
appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are 
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for 
publicly traded companies or other available fair value indica-
tors.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified 
as financial liabilities at fair value through income state-
ment, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as 
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 
The Company determines the classification of its financial 
liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value 
and in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly 
attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include reinsurance and 
accruals and other payables.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their 
classification as follows:

Reinsurance contract liabilities
Mathematical reserve

Reserve is created to cover all future liabilities based on the 
term and guarantee in the insurance contracts as deter-
mined by the Actuary. The main assumptions used relate to 
mortality, morbidity, longevity, expenses, lapse, surrender 
rates and discount rates. The Company bases the mortality 
and morbidity on the approved basis which reflect Indus-
try/population experience, adjusted when appropriate to 
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As at 31 March 2023
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reflect the Company’s unique risk exposure, product charac-
teristics and own claim severity and frequency experiences.

Incurred but Not Reported (IBNR)

As significant time lags may exist between incurrence of 
claims and notification of the claims to the Company and 
then to the reinsurer, a reserve for incurred but not reported 
claims is held.

Claim volatility Reserve

An additional reserve for any volatility in claims on overall 
portfolio is Claims volatility Reserve. It acts as a cushion in 
case of emergence of adverse experience.

Premium deficiency reserve

Premium Deficiency reserves are required by the Company if 
the unearned premiums collected are insufficient to meet 
future claims.

Profit Sharing

Any profit-sharing arrangement as per the insurance 
contract has been allowed for in the reserves.

Lease Liability

Lease Liability comprising the present value of lease 
payments for Company office for the remaining part of lease 
period. This Liability is adjusted with the finance charge on 
the balance lease liability and amortized with the monthly 
lease payments during the period of lease.

The carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if 
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change 
in the lease payments (e.g., changes in future payments 
resulting from a change in index or rate used to determine 
such lease payments) or a change in the assessment to 
purchase the underlying asset.

Accruals and other payables

Liabilities are recognized for amounts to be paid in the 
future for goods and services rendered, whether billed by 
the supplier or not.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has an obligation 
(legal or constructive) arising from a past event, and the costs 
to settle the obligation are both probable and able to be 
reliably measured.

Employees’ end of service benefits

The Company provides end of service benefits to its employees 
employed in the Dubai International Financial Centre ("DIFC") 
in accordance with the DIFC Employment Law. As of 1 February 
2020, all employers in the DIFC were required to pay end of 
service benefits contributions on behalf of its employees into 
a DIFC Employee Workplace Savings (“DEWS”) plan based on 
key service providers finalized by the DIFC, whilst employees 
may (at their discretion) also make their own contributions 
into such scheme. The entitlement to these benefits is based 
upon the employees’ final basic salary and length of service, 
subject to the completion of a minimum service period, 

calculated under the provisions of the DEWS law. Upon 
resignation or termination of the employee, the amount would 
be payable from the DEWS scheme and not directly from the 
Company and therefore the Company has no further obliga-
tions to amounts paid into DEWS. The expected costs of these 
benefits are paid over the period of employment. The amount 
of end of service benefits in relation to DEWS will also be 
charged to the statement of comprehensive income.
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2023
USD

2022

USD

As at 1 April
Additions/ modifications on lease
Depreciation expense

135,144
-

(90,096)

45,048

As at 31 March

135,144

32,710
195,208
(92,774)

2023
USD

2022

USD

146,118
-

1,855
(98,784)

As at 31 March

As at 1 April
Additions/ modification in lease
Interest expense
Payments for lease liability

49,189 146,118

24,565
195,208

2,344
(75,999)

As at 31 March 2023
Notes to the Financial Statements

3. NET INVESTMENT INCOME

4. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

5. RIGHT OF USE ASSET AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(i)   Right of use assets

2023
USD

2022

USD

Net interest income from held till maturity investments
Interest on bank deposits & Current Account
Interest on Reinsurance receivables

633,475
218,978

2,139

854,592 793,600

554,352
234,907

4,341

2023
USD

2022

USD

Employee benefits expenses
Depreciation and finance charge on lease
Regulator fees and legal expense
Depreciation and amortisation charges (Notes 6 & 7)
Auditor's remuneration
Utility expenses
Other expenses

924,216
91,951

179,294
51,594
38,278
10,089

203,063

1,498,485 1,194,652

730,132
95,118

107,854
36,115

48,000
9,596

167,837

(ii)    Lease liabilities
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6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
Improvements

USD

IT equipment  
end user 

devices
USD

IT equipment  
servers and

networks
USD

Furniture
and

fixture
USD

Office
equipment

USD

Total
USD

Cost
As at 1 April 2022
Addition during period

As at 31 March 2023

Depreciation
As at 1 April 2022
Charge for the year

As at 31 March 2023

Net carrying amount
As at 31 March 2023

47,456
-

47,456

47,456
-

47,456

-

29,836
4,950

34,786

20,214
6,554

26,768

8,018

10,834
-

10,834

10,834
-

10,834

-

28,908
4,354

33,262

26,410
1,411

27,821

5,441

4,119
3,350

7,469

3,801
636

4,437

3,032

121,153
12,654

133,807

108,715
8,601

117,316

16,491

Leasehold
Improvements

USD

IT equipment  
end user 

devices
USD

IT equipment  
servers and

networks
USD

Furniture
and

fixture
USD

Office
equipment

USD

Total
USD

Cost
As at 1 April 2021
Addition during period

As at 31 March 2022

Depreciation
As at 1 April 2021
Charge for the year

As at 31 March 2022

Net carrying amount
As at 31 March 2022

47,456
-

47,456

47,456
-

47,456

-

21,275
8,561

29,836

16,405
3,809

20,214

9,622

10,834
-

10,834

10,834
-

10,834

-

28,908
-

28,908

25,605
805

26,410

2,498

3738
381

4,119

3,738
63

3,801

318

112,211
8,942

121,153

104,038
4,677

108,715

12,438

As at 31 March 2023
Notes to the Financial Statements
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2023
USD

2022

USD

Cost
As at 1 April
Additions during the year
Capital work in progress capitalization
Capital work in Progress

204,135
6,759

-
101,452

312,436As at 31 March 237,468

80,987
8,672

114,476
33,333

Amortization
As at 1 April
Charge for the year

(80,449)
(42,993)

(49,011)
(31,438)

188,994Net carrying amount 157,019

(123,442)As at 31 March (80,449)

26,421,952 26,083,113

8. HELD TO MATURITY INVESTMENTS 

2023
USD

2022

USD

Canadian Government Bonds
International Financial Corporation (IFC) Bonds
International Bank for Reconstruction & Development (IBRD) Bonds
Asian Development Bank (ADB) Bonds
Royal Bank of Canada (RBC) Bonds
NTPC Bonds
Indian Oil Corporation Bonds
Axis Bank Bonds
State Bank of India Bonds
Rural Electrification Corporation (REC) Limited Bonds
Abu Dhabi Government Bonds
Saudi Arabi Government Bonds
Power Finance Corporation (PFC) Bonds
Kuwait Govt Bond
Indian Railways Finance Corporation (IRFC) Bonds
Export Import Bank of India (EXIM) Bonds

1,800,188
-

1,813,661
1,413,550

602,981
1,564,941
1,617,628

-
1,890,696
1,003,118
2,815,095
6,387,202
2,033,381
1,922,094
1,264,689

292,728

3,668,900
4,972,665

-
-
-

2,107,905
1,669,987

400,223
1,604,985
1,026,060
2,366,430
6,483,500
1,782,458

-
-
-
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As on 31 March 2023 the fair value of Company’s held to 
maturity investments is USD 25,475100 (2022 USD 
25,455,762).

Held to maturity investment comprise Canadian government 
bonds carrying a coupon rate of 0.75 % maturing during May 
2026, IBRD bonds carrying coupon rate of 3.13% and 1.88% 
maturing in November 2025 and October 2026, ADB bonds 
carrying coupon rate of 3.13% maturing in September 2028, 
RBC bonds carrying coupon rate of 2.60% maturing in March 
2027, NTPC Bond carrying coupon rate of 4.37% maturing in 
November 2024, IOCL bond carrying a coupon rate of 5.75% 
maturing in August 2023, SBI Bank bond carrying a coupon 

rate of 1.80% and 2.49% maturing in July 2026 & January 
2027, REC Limited bond carrying a coupon rate of 4.75% 
maturing in May 2023, Abu Dhabi Government bond carrying 
a coupon rate of 3.13% maturing in May 2026 & April 2030, 
Saudi Arabia Government bonds carrying a coupon rates of 
2.90% and 3.25% maturing in October 2025 and October 
2026, PFC bond carrying a coupon rate of 3.25% and 3.9% 
maturing in June 2024 & September 2029, Kuwait Govt 
bonds carrying a coupon rate of 3.50% maturing in March 
2027, IRFC bonds carrying a coupon rate of 3.25% maturing 
in February 2030 and EXIM bonds carrying a coupon rate of 
5.50% maturing in January 2033.
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Reinsurers’
share

USD

Gross
USD

Net
USD

Mathematical reserve
Incurred but not reported reserve
Claim volatility reserve
Premium deficiency reserve

6,300,755
3,474,678

600,000
392,742

1,451,259
657,015

-
-

4,849,496
2,817,663

600,000
392,742

10,768,175 2,108,274 8,659,901

Reserves as of 31 March 2022

9.    REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Reserves as of 31 March 2023

Reinsurers’
share

USD

Gross
USD

Net
USD

Mathematical reserve
Incurred but not reported reserve
Claim volatility reserve

8,012,358
3,703,938

600,000

2,204,030
957,654

-

12,316,296 3,161,684

5,808,328
2,746,284

600,000

9,154,612

Life Insurance

Mortality and morbidity rates
Assumptions are based on the expectations of mortality and 
morbidity experience, according to the type of contract 
written and the territory in which the insured person 
resides. They reflect recent historical experience and are 
adjusted when appropriate to reflect the Company’s own 
experiences. Being on the conservative side, no allowance is 
made for expected future improvements. Assumptions are 
differentiated by age, sex, underwriting class, geography 
and contract type. An increase in rates will lead to a larger 
number of claims, which will increase the claims payout and 
reduce profits for the Company.

Material judgment is required in determining the liabilities 
and in the choice of assumptions. Assumptions in use are 
based on past experience, current internal data, external 
market indices and benchmarks which reflect current 
observable market data and other published information. 
Assumptions and prudent estimates are determined at the 
date of valuation and no credit is taken for possible 
beneficial effects of voluntary withdrawals. Assumptions are 
further evaluated on a continuous basis in order to ensure 
realistic and reasonable valuations.

8. REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

     (continued)

The key assumptions to which the estimation of liabilities is 
particularly sensitive are, as follows:

As at 31 March 2023
Notes to the Financial Statements



10.     REINSURANCE BALANCE RECEIVABLES

2023
USD

2022

USD

Due from Retrocession companies 5,521,436 2,804,077

Company’s receivable includes, USD 713,641 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: USD 1,380,636) for which premium is estimated based on 
historical data and past trends.

See note 17 on credit risk of trade receivables, which explains how the Company manages and measures credit quality of 
receivables.

11. RETROCESSION BALANCE RECEIVABLES

2023
USD

2022

USD

Due from Retrocession companies 513,797 817,449

The Company’s receivables were not impaired as at the reporting date. Receivables from the reinsurance contracts are monitored on 
an ongoing basis and Company’s management is confident of settlement all receivables and has not made a provision against the 
same.

As at the year end, the ageing analysis of unimpaired reinsurance balance receivables is as follows:

Total 
USD

Neither
past due

nor
impaired 

USD

<30
days 
USD

31-60
days 
USD

91-180
days 
USD

>180
days 
USD

>360
days 
USD

Past due but not impaired

As at 31 March 2023 -

-

155,746467,496-423,8904,474,3045,521,436

As at 31 March 2022 177,684305,057-470,7281,850,6082,804,077

9. REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

      (continued)

Discount rate

Life insurance liabilities are determined as the sum of the 
discounted value of the expected benefits and future 
administration expenses directly related to the contract, 
less the discounted value of the expected theoretical 
premiums that would be required to meet these future cash 
outflows. Discount rates are based on the expected 
investment return on the assets backing the liabilities. The 
expected investment return is based on the investment return 
on the existing assets and the expected return on future 
investments. A decrease in the discount rate will increase the 
value of the insurance liability and therefore reduce profits for 
the shareholders.

Expenses
Operating expenses assumptions reflect the projected costs 
of maintaining and servicing in–force policies and associated 
overhead expenses. The current level of expenses is taken 
as an appropriate expense base, adjusted for expected 
expense inflation if appropriate. An increase in the level of 
expenses would result in an increase in expenditure, 
thereby reducing profits for the Company.

Lapse and surrender rates

Lapses relate to the termination of policies due to 
non–payment of premiums. Surrenders relate to the 
voluntary termination of policies by policyholders. Policy 
termination assumptions are determined using statistical 
measures based on the Industry/Company’s experience and 
vary by product type, policy duration and sales trends.
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Cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of cash flows comprise the following statement of financial 
position amounts:

14. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

2023
USD

Bank balances and cash

Deposits with banks maturing within three months (note 12)

Cash and Cash Equivalent

2,199,211

-

2,199,211

1,918,048

-

1,918,048

2023
USD

2022

USD

2022

USD

Authorized Share Capital
30,000,000 shares of USD 1 each 
(2023:30,000,000 Shares of USD 1 each) 30,000,000 30,000,000

Issued and paid up Capital
Issued and fully paid 29,500,000 shares of USD 1 each 
(2022:29,500,000 Shares of USD 1 each) 29,500,000 29,500,000

15.  SHARE CAPITAL

13. DEPOSITS WITH BANKS

2023
USD

2022

USD

Deposits with banks

Less: Deposits with banks maturing within three months (note 14)

5,300,000

-

5,300,000

5,795,000

-

5,795,000

Deposits with banks carry interest rate in the range of 3.79 % to 5.10% per annum (2022: 2.38% to 3.79% per annum).

12. PREPAYMENT AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Interest accrued

Prepaid expenses

Other receivables

365,896

101,305

38,349

254,314

150,648

146,252

551,214 505,550

2023
USD

2022

USD

As at 31 March 2023
Notes to the Financial Statements
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16. EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS
The Company provides end of service benefits to its employ-
ees. As of 1 February 2020, all employers in the DIFC were 
required to pay end of service benefits contributions on 
behalf of its employees into a DIFC Employee Workplace 
Savings (“DEWS”) plan based on key service providers 
finalized by the DIFC, whilst employees may (at their discre-
tion) also make their own contributions into such scheme. 
The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employ-

2023
USD

2022
USD

As at 1 April
Charged during the year
Contribution paid under DEWS Scheme
Paid to employees exited during year

98,474
51,328

(47,683)
(19,600)

82,519As at 31 March

97,220
50,500

(46,095)
(3,151)

98,474

17. RETROCESSION BALANCE PAYABLES

2023
USD

2022
USD

Due to Retrocession companies 1,501,419 5,290

Movement in the provision recognised in the statement of financial position is as follows:

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

18. REINSURANCE BALANCE PAYABLES

2023
USD

2022
USD

Due to Insurance companies 4,375,903 4,174,366

19. ACCRUED AND OTHER PAYABLES

2023
USD

2022
USD

Accruals and other provisions 222,496 182,080

Related parties represent associated companies, Holding 
Company and key management personnel of the Company, 
and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly 
influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these 
transactions are approved by the Company’s management.

Name of related parties and the nature of relationship is 
given below:

Promoter Company
Housing Development Finance Corporation Limited

Holding Company
HDFC Life Insurance Company Limited

Fellow Subsidiaries
HDFC Pension Management Company Ltd.

Fellow Subsidiaries of Promotor Company 
HDFC Asset Management Company Limited 
HDFC Holdings Limited
HDFC Trustee Company Limited HDFC Investments Limited
HDFC ERGO General Insurance Company Limited 
HDFC Capital Advisors Limited
HDFC Sales Private Limited HDFC Venture Capital Limited
HDFC Ventures Trustee Company Limited 
HDFC Property Ventures Limited
HDFC Credila Financial Services Private Limited
HDFC Education and Development Services Private Limited 
Griha Investments (Subsidiary of HDFC Holdings Ltd.)
Griha Pte Ltd., Singapore (Subsidiary of HDFC Investments Ltd.)

As at 31 March 2023
Notes to the Financial Statements

ees’ basic salary over the length of service, subject to the 
completion of a minimum service period, calculated under 
the provisions of the DEWS law. Upon resignation or termina-
tion of the employee, the amount would be payable from the 
DEWS scheme and not directly from the Company and conse-
quently the Company has no further obligations for 
payments made into DEWS. The expected costs of these 
benefits are paid over the period of employment.
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Transactions with holding Company included in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

2023
USD

2022
USD

Gross reinsurance premium
Claims

592,019
(1,932,449)

1,118,461

(3,663,416)

Balances with holding Company included in the statement of financial position are as follows:

2023
USD

2022
USD

Reinsurance balance payable (848,773) (1,911,791)

Transactions with HDFC Bank during the year as follows are as follow:

2023
USD

2022
USD

Purchase of Term deposits
Maturity of Term deposits
Interest earned on term deposits

600,000
500,000

37,856

1,700,000

7,200,000

30,692

Balances with HDFC bank Company included in the statement of financial position are as follows:

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel during the period was as follows:

2023
USD

2022
USD

Balance in Current Account
Accrued Interest on term deposit
Term deposit

1,101,254
19,304

1,000,000

1,354,859
-
-

2023
USD

2022
USD

Director’s sitting fees
Short-term benefits

12,500
42,706

15,000
42,702

55,206 57,702

As at 31 March 2023
Notes to the Financial Statements
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Entities over which control is exercised by Promoter Company
HDFC Investment Trust 
HDFC Investment Trust II

Key management personnel 

Directors
Ms. Vibha Padalkar 
Mr.Yuvraj Narayan 
Mr. Davinder Rajpal 
Mr. Suresh Badami

Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Sameer Yogishwar



21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
         POLICIES
(a)     Governance framework

The primary objective of the Company’s risk and finan-
cial management framework is to protect the Company’s
shareholders from events that hinder the sustainable 
achievement of financial performance objectives, 
including failing to exploit opportunities. Key manage-
ment recognises the critical importance of having 
efficient and effective risk management systems in 
place.

The Company’s risk management framework is the 
responsibility of the Risk Management Committee of 
the Board of Director’s and has effective oversight by 
the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors meets regularly to approve any 
commercial, regulatory and organizational decisions. 
The Management under the authority delegated from 
the board of directors defines the Company’s risk and its 
interpretation, limits structure to ensure the appropri-
ate quality and diversification of assets, align under-
writing and reinsurance strategy to the corporate 
goals, and specify reporting requirements.

(b)     Capital management framework

The primary objective of the Company’s management is 
to ensure that it complies with externally imposed 
capital requirements and to safeguard the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern so that it can 
continue to provide returns to shareholders. The 
Company manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it, in light of changes in business condi-
tions.

The Company fully complied with the externally 
imposed capital requirements during the period ended 
31 March 2023.

As at 31st March 2023, the adjusted capital resources
of the Company calculated as per App3 of ‘The DFSA 
Rulebook, Prudential – Insurance Business Module’ is 
USD 24,853,307 (As at March 31, 2022 – USD 
24,530,618).

This is higher than the minimum capital requirement of 
USD 11,162,139 calculated as per App4 of ‘The DFSA 
Rulebook, Prudential – Insurance Business Module.

As at 31st March 2023, the Company was in compliance 
with the minimum capital adequacy requirements of 
the DFSA Rulebook, Prudential- Insurance Business 
Module.

(c)     Regulatory framework

Regulators are primarily interested in protecting the 
rights of the policyholders and monitor them closely to 
ensure that the Company is satisfactorily managing 

affairs for their benefit. At the same time, the regula-
tors are also interested in ensuring that the Company 
maintains an appropriate solvency position to meet 
unforeseen liabilities arising from economic shocks or 
natural disasters.

The operations of the Company are also subject to 
regulatory requirements within the jurisdiction where 
it operates. Such regulations not only prescribe 
approval and monitoring of activities, but also impose 
certain restrictive provisions (e.g. capital adequacy) to 
minimise the risk of default and insolvency on the part 
of the reinsurance companies to meet unforeseen 
liabilities as these arise.

(d)     Asset liability management (ALM) frame work

The principal technique of the Company’s ALM is to 
match assets to the liabilities arising from insurance 
contracts by reference to the type of benefits payable 
to contract holders. The Company ensures it maintains 
adequate assets to meet the liabilities on the reinsur-
ance business written as well as meet the capital 
requirements. The asset and liability cash flows are 
matched to the extent that sufficient liquid assets are 
available to meet outgoes due to claims and expenses. 
The duration of assets and liabilities are matched to 
the extent possible to avoid losses due to realization of 
assets at inappropriate times.

The Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) of the Holding 
Company actively monitors the ALM framework to 
ensure in each period sufficient cash flow is available to 
meet liabilities arising from reinsurance contracts.
Management regularly monitors the financial risks 
associated with the Company’s other financial assets 
and liabilities not directly associated with reinsurance 
liabilities.

The risks faced by the Company and the way these risks 
are mitigated by management are summarized below:

21.1 Reinsurance risk

The principal risk the Company faces under reinsurance 
contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments or 
the timing thereof, differ from expectations. This is 
influenced by the frequency of claims, severity of claims, 
actual benefits paid and subsequent development of 
long-term claims. Therefore, the objective of the Company is 
to ensure that sufficient reserves are available to cover 
these liabilities.

The above risk exposure is mitigated by diversification 
across a number of reinsurance contracts. The variability of 
risks is also improved by careful selection of risk accepted 
with outward reinsurance arrangements.

In a common practice among global reinsurance companies, 
and in order to minimize the financial exposure arising from 
large reinsurance claims, the Company, in the normal course 

As at 31 March 2023
Notes to the Financial Statements
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As at 31 March 2023
Notes to the Financial Statements

At 31 March 2023

High
grade
USD

Standard
grade
USD

Sub-standard  
grade
USD

Past due 
and

impaired
USD

Neither past due nor impaired
Total 
USD

Reinsurance contract assets
Reinsurance balance receivables
Retrocession balance receivables
Held to maturity
Bank balances and deposits

-
-
-

26,421,952
7,499,211

3,161,684
5,521,436

513,797
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

3,161,684
5,521,436

513,797
26,421,952

7,499,211

33,921,163 9,196,917 - - 43,118,080
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of business, enters into arrangements with counterparties 
for retrocession. Such retrocession arrangements provides 
for diversification of business, allows management to 
control exposure to potential losses arising from large risks, 
and provide additional capacity for growth. A significant 
portion of the reinsurance is affected under treaty and facul-
tative arrangements.

To minimize its exposure to significant losses from the retro-
cessionaire(s) insolvencies, the Company evaluates the 
financial condition and financial strength ratings of its retro-
cession partners before placing risks.

21.2     Financial risk

The Company’s principal financial instruments include financial 
assets and financial liabilities, which comprise receivables 
arising from reinsurance contracts, deposits with banks, held 
to maturity investments, cash and cash equivalents, other 
payables, and reinsurance balance payables.

The Company does not enter into any equity and derivative 
transactions.

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial assets are 
credit risk, geographical risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency 
risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for managing each 
of these risks and they are summarised below:

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of default on a security or investment that 

may rise from an issuer failing to meet contractual obligations. 
However, credit risk is controlled and mitigated by buying 
instruments issued by entities of high credit investment grade 
as well as diversifying the exposures across different issuers.

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by 
the individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk 
of the industry and country in which customers operate has 
less influence on credit risk.

The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate 
the Company’s exposure to credit risk:

The Company only enters into reinsurance contracts with 
recognized, credit worthy third parties(cedants and 
retrocessionaires). In addition, receivables from reinsur-
ance contracts are monitored on an ongoing basis in order 
to reduce the Company’s exposure to bad debts.

The Company’s bank balances are maintained with a range 
of international banks in accordance with limits set by the 
management.

The Company’s cash is held in bank’s of acceptable credit rating.

The Company’s receivables were not impaired as at 31 March 

2023 and as at 31 March 2022. In addition, receivables from the 

reinsurance contracts are monitored on an ongoing basis in 
order to reduce the Company’s exposure to bad debts.

The table below provides information regarding the credit risk 
exposure of the Company by classifying assets according to the 



As at 31 March 2023
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Company’s credit rating of counterparties. 

Credit Risk (continued)
For assets to be classified as ‘past due and impaired’ the 
contractual payments in arrears are more than 180 days and an 
impairment adjustment is recorded in the statement of income 
for this. When the credit exposure is adequately secured or 
when management is confident of settlement, arrears more 
than 180 days might still be classified as ‘past due but not 
impaired’, with no impairment adjustment recorded.

Geographical risk
The Company’s bank balances and investments are primarily 
with financial institutions. The insurance risk arising from 
reinsurance contracts is concentrated mainly in the Middle East 
North Africa (MENA) region and India.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates 
environment. The Company does not have any exposure to 
currency risk because most of the financial instruments are 
denominated in USD, United Arab Emirates Dirham, which is 
pegged against USD as at 31 March 2023.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to 
meet its financial obligation as they fall due. The Company’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet 
its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Company’s reputation. At 31 March 2023, all 
financial liabilities were either repayable on demand or payable 
within a maximum period of three months. The contractual 
outflows associated with financial liabilities are not materially 
different from their carrying amount in the statement of 
financial position.

Market risk
Market risk is largely associated to the performance of the 
financial markets including condition of the economic 
environment thereby playing a critical factor in assessing the 

yield on investment portfolios. As a planned mitigation 
measure, market risk is controlled and managed by maintaining 
adequate level of liquidity, thereby limiting the necessity of 
selling the financial instruments at an inopportune time. The 
Company as a matter of prudence does not enters into 
transactions in derivative instruments or complex structured 
products as a conservative measure.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in interest rates 
prevailing in market or due to a change in the absolute level of 
interest rates, in the shape of a yield curve or in any other 
interest rate relationship. Interest bearing financial assets and 
interest-bearing financial liabilities are all held for maturity and 
hence there is no interest rate risk as a result, the Company is 
not subject to exposure to fair value interest rate risk due to 
fixed rate of interest on its financial instruments.

21.3     Operational risk

The “Company” envisages operational risks to emanate 
typically from inadequate or failed internal processes, people 
(key control person), systems (technology), services or 
external events including reputation risks, strategic risks, legal 
(non-compliance risk and AML risks) risks and specialized risks 
viz. fraud & fiduciary risks, outsourcing risks, business 
continuity planning risk and information security or data risk. 
When controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause 
damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or 
lead to financial loss. The Company cannot expect to eliminate 
all operational risks, but through a prudent control framework 
and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the 
Company is able to manage the risks effectively. The Company 
has a control effectiveness framework that includes effective 
segregation of duties, policies and processes access, 
authorization and reconciliation procedures and assessment 
processes.

21.4     Catastrophic risk

It is a hypothetical future event which could damage human 
well-being on a global scale, even endangering or destroying 
modern civilization. An event that could cause human 

At 31 March 2022

High
grade
USD

Standard
grade
USD

Sub-standard  
grade
USD

Past due 
and

impaired
USD

Neither past due nor impaired
Total 
USD

Reinsurance contract assets
Reinsurance balance receivables
Retrocession balance receivables
Held to maturity
Bank balances and deposits

-
-
-

26,083,113
7,713,048

2,108,274
2,804,077

817,449
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

2,108,274
2,804,077

817,449
26,083,113

7,713,048

33,796,161 5,729,800 - - 39,525,961



As at 31 March 2023
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2023
USD

2022
USD

Saudi Arabia
Hongkong
United Arab Emirates
Qatar
Oman
India
Jordon
Egypt
Bahrain

6,498,480
1,148,900
4,796,104
2,011,308

988,271
795,731

880,252
20,159
84,532

5,088,311
3,177,347
2,474,503
1,536,840
1,333,826
1,137,226

668,979
100,395
119,477

17,223,737 15,636,904

2023
USD

2022
USD

As at 1 April
Claims incurred during year
Claims settled During year
As at 31 March

4,174,366
13,867,183

(13,665,646)

4,375,903

1,674,819
18,393,276

(15,893,729)

4,174,366

24.     MOVEMENT OF OUTSTANDING CLAIMS

25.  FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy
The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining 
and disclosing the fair value of assets by valuation 
technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a 
significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, 
either directly or indirectly; and
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extinction or permanently and drastically curtail humanity's 
potential is known as an existential risk. Potential catastrophic 
risks include anthropogenic risks, caused by humans and 
non-anthropogenic or external risks.

21.5 Emerging risk

Risks that are evolving in areas and ways where the body of 
available knowledge is weak. Emerging risks have 
characteristics that differentiate them from ‘business as usual’ 
risks. Emerging risks may arise and evolve quickly, 
unexpectedly, or both. The emerging risk may never crystallize 
at all. Emerging risks may have a massive economic loss 
potential at a macro level and subsequently may impact at a 
micro level directly or indirectly. Further characteristics of 
emerging risks are ‘Ambiguous’, ‘Chaotic’, ‘Complex’, 
‘Time-horizon can change’, ‘Uncertain’, ‘Uncontrollable’ and 
‘Volatile’.

22. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent Liability

As on 31 March 2023 the Company has deposited an amount of 
USD 12,944 (2022: USD 11,582) to the Government of UAE as 
security of visa of its employees and in case any visa related 
rules are not abided by the employees the same can be 
forfeited by the Government.

In addition to the above, the Company has a contingent liability 
(net claims under ceded policies, not acknowledged as liability) 
of USD 178,203 (2022: USD 263,408) on account of declined 
claims by a cedent which are pending for redressal at cedent’s 
end, due to objections raised by the policy holder.

23. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Company’s revenue shown in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income is having following geographical breakup split based on 
the Insurance Industry And Country Risk Assessments (IICRA).

Level 3: techniques that use inputs which have a significant 
effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on 
observable market data.

Fixed rate financial instruments
The fair value of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities 
carried at amortised cost are estimated by comparing market 
interest rates when they were first recognised with current 
market rates for similar financial instruments. The estimated 
fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits is based on 
discounted cash flows using prevailing money- market 
interest rates for debts with similar credit and maturity. For 
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other variable rate instruments an adjustment is also made 
to reflect the change in required credit spread since the 
instrument was first recognised.

26. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES 
AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements 
requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of expenses, 
assets and liabilities, and the acCompanying disclosures. 
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could 
result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future 
periods.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Company's accounting policies, 
management has made the following judgment which has 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements:

Classification of investments
Management decides on acquisition of an investment 
whether it should be classified as held to maturity, held for 
trading, fair value though or profit and loss income or 
available-for-sale. For those investments deemed to be held 
to maturity, management ensures that the requirements of 
IAS 39 are met and, in particular, that the Company has the 
intention and ability to hold these to maturity. 

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and 
termination options – Company as lessee
The Company determines the lease term as the 
non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably 
certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option 
to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be 
exercised.

The Company applies judgement in evaluating whether it is 
reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to 
renew or terminate the lease. That is, it considers all 
relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to 
exercise either the renewal or termination. After the 
commencement date, the Company reassesses the lease 
term if there is a significant event or change in 
circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability 
to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to 
terminate.

Leases – Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate 
implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure Lease liabilities. The IBR is 
the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to 
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the 
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The 

IBR therefore reflects what the Company “would have to 
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates 
are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into 
financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to 
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Company 
estimates the IBR using the observable inputs (such as 
market interest rates) when available and is required to 
make certain entity-specific estimates.

Going concern

The Company’s management has made an assessment of the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and is 
satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in 
business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the 
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial 
statements continue to be prepared on the going concern 
basis.

Estimates and assumptions

The Company based its assumptions and estimates on 
parameters available when the financial statements were 
prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about 
future developments, however, may change due to market 
changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the 
Company.

Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they 
occur. The key assumptions concerning the future and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year, are described below:

Technical reserves

In calculating the technical reserves, reserve for incurred but 
not reported claims and reserve for allocated loss 
adjustmentes, the Company makes estimates of the future 
claims and expenses experience. These estimates are based 
on the expected experience in relation to the reinsurance 
contracts written and is based on historical data, adjusted for 
the Company’s views of the future experience. Any adverse 
deviation from the expected experience could result in an 
increase in the reserve requirements.

Impairment of accounts receivable

An estimate of the collectible amount of reinsurance balance 
receivable is made when collection of the full amount is no 
longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this 
estimation is performed on an individual basis. Amounts 
which are not individually significant, but which are past 
due, are assessed collectively and a provision applied 
according to the length of time past due.

At the reporting date, reinsurance balance receivables were 
USD 5,521,436 (2022: USD 2,804,077) and retrocession 
balance receivables were USD 513,797(2022: USD 817,449) 
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on which the Company has not identified any indications of 
impairment on the receivables. Hence no provision for 
impairment losses was reported. Any difference between the 
amounts actually collected in future periods and the 
amounts expected will be recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Estimated premium income

In calculating the estimated premium income, the Company 
makes estimates for the expected written premiums during 
the period. These estimates are based on the expected 
experience in relation to the reinsurance estimates written 
and is based on historical data, adjusted for the Company’s 
views of the experience. Any adverse deviation from the 
expected experience could result in future adjustments for 
the future premium.

2 7 .  TA X AT I O N

On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released 
Federal Decree-Law No. 47 of 2022 on the Taxation of 
Corporations and Businesses (Corporate Tax Law or the Law) 
to enact a Federal corporate tax (CT) regime in the UAE. The 
CT regime will become effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 June 2023.

Generally, UAE businesses will be subject to a 9% CT rate. A 
rate of 0% will apply to taxable income not exceeding a 
particular threshold to be prescribed by way of a Cabinet 
Decision (expected to be AED 375,000 based on information 
released by the Ministry of Finance). In addition, there are 
several other decisions that are yet to be finalised by way of 
a Cabinet Decision that are significant in order for entities to 
determine their tax status and the taxable income. 
Therefore, pending such important decisions by the Cabinet 
as at 31 March 2023, the Company has considered that the 
Law is not substantively enacted from IAS 12 – Income Taxes 
perspective as at 31 March 2023. The Company shall 
continue to monitor the timing of the issuance of these 
critical cabinet decisions to determine their tax status and 
the application of IAS 12 – Income Taxes.

The Company is currently in the process of assessing the possi-
ble impact on financial statements, both from current and 
deferred tax perspective, pending issuance of these critical 
cabinet decisions.
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